STRATHMORE UNIVERSITY UNESCO CHAIR FOR CLIMATE RESILIENCE AND SUSTAINABILITY

Leveraging AI for Sustainable Development in Africa: Responsible AI Frameworks in Agriculture

Report to funder: The Centre for Intellectual Property and Information Technology Law (CIPIT), Strathmore University

Report authored by: Peter Odhiambo





Centre for Intellectual Property and Information Technology Law

Executive Summary

As Africa confronts the escalating challenges of climate change, its agricultural sector, a vital pillar of economic stability and sustenance, is at a critical juncture. The continent's diverse climatic zones, from arid deserts to lush rainforests, are experiencing increasingly erratic weather patterns that threaten food security and agricultural productivity. This executive summary synthesises insights from an extensive review of agricultural practices in South Africa, Kenya, and Ghana, and proposes a model framework to enhance resilience and productivity across Africa's agricultural sector.

The literature review highlights the vulnerabilities of smallholder and subsistence farmers, who are crucial to the continent's agricultural output but are severely impacted by climate variability. These farmers' limited capacity to adapt necessitates innovative solutions to bolster resilience and sustainability within this pivotal sector. Technological innovations, particularly in artificial intelligence (AI) and digital technologies, offer transformative potential. For instance, South Africa's integration of satellite imagery and predictive analytics has significantly enhanced agricultural monitoring and management. Similarly, Kenya and Ghana have successfully implemented mobile and AI technologies to provide essential services and information to farmers, improving both productivity and resilience.

However, the adoption and impact of these technologies are contingent upon supportive policy frameworks and capacity-building initiatives. South Africa's Decadal Plan and Kenya's Agriculture Sector Transformation and Growth Strategy exemplify comprehensive approaches to modernising agriculture through enhanced digital infrastructure and skills development. Ghana's emphasis on digital agriculture further underscores the necessity for policies that facilitate technology uptake and ensure its equitable distribution.

Drawing on these insights, the proposed model framework for enhancing agricultural resilience and productivity in Africa centres on integrating climate-smart agricultural practices with cutting-edge technology. It advocates for strengthening policy support and infrastructure development, fostering public-private partnerships, ensuring ethical and inclusive technology use, and promoting community engagement and participatory design. This framework aims to provide a sustainable pathway for Africa's agricultural sector to navigate the challenges posed by climate change. By leveraging technological innovation, enhancing policy support, and prioritising inclusivity and ethical considerations, Africa can achieve a resilient, productive, and sustainable agricultural future, ensuring food security and economic stability across the continent.

Acronyms & Abbreviations

AI	Artificial Intelligence
AIFARMS	Artificial Intelligence for Future Agricultural Resilience,
	Management, and Sustainability
ASTGS	Agriculture Sector Transformation and Growth Strategy
CRDP	Comprehensive Rural Development Programme
CSIR	Council for Scientific and Industrial Research
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations
GCSAFS	Ghana Climate-Smart Agriculture and Food Security Program
GMA	Ghana Meteorological Agency
ΙοΤ	Internet of Things
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
KALRO	Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research Organisation
KCSAP	Kenya Climate Smart Agriculture Project
PADSA	Precision Agriculture for Development in South Africa
RCMRD	Regional Centre for Mapping of Resources for Development
SANSA	South African National Space Agency

Table of Contents

Introduction	6
Background	6
Methodology	9
Structure	10
Limitations Acknowledgement	10
Conclusion: Analysis, Recommendations, and Policy Implications	11
Literature Review and Analysis	12
Empirical Foundations and Climate Impacts	13
Technological Innovation and Building Digital Resilience	16
Policy Frameworks and Ethical Considerations	21
Integration of Literature Review	26
Conclusion	28
Analysis of Agricultural Sectors in South Africa, Kenya, and Ghana	31
Analysis of South Africa's Agricultural Sector: Progress, Weaknesses, Gaps, Opportunities,	and
Recommendations	38
Analysis of Kenya's Agricultural Sector: Progress, Weaknesses, Gaps, Opportunities, and Recommendations	46
Analysis of Ghana's Agricultural Sector: Progress, Weaknesses, Gaps, Opportunities, and	
Recommendations	54
Synthesis and Analysis of the Cases of South Africa, Kenya and Ghana	57
Reference Sources	62
Annex	67

Introduction

As climate change intensifies, Africa's agricultural sector faces a pivotal moment. Agriculture is not only the cornerstone of economic stability and growth for many African nations but also a critical source of sustenance, employment, and income for the majority of the continent's population. However, the sector is highly sensitive to climatic variations; it confronts unprecedented challenges due to the adverse effects of climate change, which manifest as erratic weather patterns including prolonged droughts, unexpected floods, and shifts in seasonal climates. These changes have significant impacts on water resources, crop yields, and livestock health, thereby jeopardising food security and the livelihoods of millions across Africa.

This paper will examine the transformative potential of Artificial Intelligence (AI) technologies within the agricultural sectors of Kenya, South Africa, and Ghana. These countries have been selected as case studies as they mirror the diverse geographical, climatic, and agricultural makeup of the African continent, thereby providing an appropriate backdrop for this exploration. The aim is to gather valuable insights and provide recommendations that could serve as a navigational compass for the continent at large, guiding it towards the realisation of sustainable agricultural practices. In delving into the nuanced contexts and opportunities inherent in these case studies, the overarching ambition crystallises: to fortify climate resilience in African agriculture through the strategic infusion of AI technologies, thus ensuring the sustainability of the continent's food systems and the well-being of its denizens.

Background

The pillar of Africa's agricultural landscape are smallholder and subsistence farmers, who are particularly vulnerable to climate change. Smallholder farmers represent a significant portion of Africa's agricultural workforce and rely heavily on rain-fed agriculture, making them highly susceptible to climate variability and climate change. Chikava, in a study highlighted by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, discussed how climate change poses a significant threat to smallholder farming, which is a crucial path out of poverty for many in Africa. Chikava emphasised that with the continent warming at a faster pace than the pace of the global average, Africa faces potentially catastrophic impacts on its agriculture, which is a vital source of employment and GDP in sub-Saharan Africa. Chikava's study noted that by 2050, areas that currently produce 70 percent of the crop value will suffer from severe or extreme aridity and

heat stress.¹ Whilst they represent the majority of Africa's agricultural workforce, these (smallholder) farmers have limited capacity to absorb the shocks induced by climate variability. Their farming practices, which are deeply rooted in their cultural fabric and the traditional knowledge of their communities, are not merely economic activities but a way of life that sustains households and entire communities. The significance of smallholder and subsistence farming therefore extends beyond food production; it is integral to maintaining the social structure, cultural heritage, and biodiversity of rural areas.

The vulnerability of smallholder and subsistence farming to climate variability is accentuated by a conspicuous scarcity of technological innovation adoption.² The spectre of climate change thus looms large, undermining agricultural productivity and threatening the very existence of these communities. The imperative for pioneering solutions that bolster resilience and sustainability within this pivotal sector becomes increasingly pronounced. In this context, the advent of AI technologies could mark the beginning of a new era, promising a paradigm shift in the agricultural landscape of Africa.

The application of AI technologies in agriculture, particularly through machine learning algorithms, advanced data analytics, and the Internet of Things (IoT) has the potential to transform agricultural methodologies towards greater efficiency, resilience, and sustainability. This transformation is particularly impactful in the context of smallholder and subsistence farming, offering a range of benefits from precise weather forecasts to real-time monitoring of crop and soil health, and predictive analytics for crop yield optimisation. At the World Agri-Tech 2024, Microsoft introduced new copilot templates and generative AI solutions aimed at enhancing agricultural productivity and efficiency. These technologies can empower farmers with insights on disease risks, yield forecasts, and weather impacts, among other aspects, by leveraging data from Azure Data Manager for Agriculture and other sources. Another example is Krishi Mitra, an AI copilot developed by ITC for farmers in India, designed to provide localised, timely information to enhance productivity and build climate resilience.³ The Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO) has also emphasised the role of AI

¹ Chikava E.,(2021) *Smallholder farming is a proven path out of poverty, but climate change is changing the rules.* (https://www.gatesfoundation.org/ideas/articles/smallholder-farming-climate-change)

² Ogundeji, A.A., (2022) *Adaptation to Climate Change and Impact on Smallholder Farmers' Food Security in South Africa.* Agriculture 2022, 12, 589. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture12050589

³ Microsoft (2024) World Agri-Tech 2024: Pioneering agricultural resilience with AI.

⁽https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/industry/blog/sustainability/2024/04/02/world-agri-tech-2024-pioneering-agricultur <u>e-resilience-with-ai/</u>)

and digital tools in revolutionising agrifood systems. According to FAO, by enhancing the accessibility of climate technologies and innovative practices, these tools support climate change adaptation, resilience, and mitigation, addressing the needs of the most vulnerable and promoting sustainable agriculture.⁴ In addition, the AI Institute for Artificial Intelligence for Future Agricultural Resilience, Management, and Sustainability (AIFARMS) represents a collective initiative to propel agricultural advancement via artificial intelligence. With a focus on sustainable intensification, environmental resilience, and technology adoption, AIFARMS aims to address key agricultural challenges through research and innovation. It involves a consortium of academic partners and is supported by the U.S. Department of Agriculture and the National Science Foundation.⁵ Initiatives such as these underscore the potential of AI-driven technologies to mitigate the effects of climate change, enhance agricultural productivity, and ensure sustainability. They highlight a promising future where technology empowers farmers, especially in vulnerable communities, with actionable insights for more resilient and productive farming practices.

AI technologies thus herald the potential to revolutionise agricultural methodologies, guiding them towards enhanced efficiency, resilience, and sustainability. The application of AI in smallholder and subsistence farming contexts can provide precise meteorological forecasts, real-time surveillance of crop and soil health, automated pest control measures, and predictive analytics for optimising crop yields. These AI-driven interventions not only hold the promise of mitigating the deleterious effects of climate change but also empower farmers with actionable insights, thereby augmenting agricultural productivity and sustainability for the most vulnerable segments of the farming community.

AI can furthermore accelerate the shift towards precision agriculture – a forefront practice positioned to substantially improve the environmental footprint of farming. By enabling meticulous optimisation of water utilisation, judicious application of fertilisers and pesticides,

⁴ FAO (2023) FAO 'AI and Digital Tools for Climate Resilient Agrifood Systems' on the spotlight at the Science and Innovation Forum 2023.

⁽https://www.fao.org/agroinformatics/news/news-detail/fao--ai-and-digital-tools-for-climate-resilient-agri-food-systems--on-the-spotlight-at-the-science-and-innovation-forum-2023/en)

⁵ USDA (2024) AI Institute: Artificial Intelligence for Future Agricultural Resilience, Management, and Sustainability (AIFARMS).

⁽https://ischool.illinois.edu/research/projects/ai-institute-artificial-intelligence-future-agricultural-resilience-management, https://portal.nifa.usda.gov/web/crisprojectpages/1024178-ai-institute-artificial-intelligence-for-future-agricultural-resilience-management-and-sustainability-aifarms.html#:~:text=)

and bolstering the overall efficiency of agricultural operations, precision agriculture represents a sustainable pathway forward. Given that the agricultural milieu in Africa is predominantly delineated by smallholder farms with restricted access to technological resources, the embracement of AI stands as a beacon of modernization, rendering agriculture more impervious to climatic adversities and equipping it to sustain the burgeoning populace. Notwithstanding the auspicious potential of AI in redefining African agriculture, particularly for smallholder and subsistence farmers, the actualisation of this vision is contingent upon a co-operative collaboration among governments, technology purveyors, academicians, and the agrarian community at large. This collaborative effort necessitates substantial investments in digital infrastructure, the enhancement of technical competencies among farmers and agricultural practitioners, and the formulation of conducive policy frameworks that advocate for the ethical and sustainable deployment of AI technologies.

Thus the criticality of augmenting climate resilience and sustainability in the agricultural sector, particularly among smallholder and subsistence farms, through innovative AI applications cannot be overstated. As Africa contends with the multifaceted challenges posed by climate change, the adoption of AI in agriculture emerges not merely as a technological advancement but as a potentially fundamental paradigm shift towards securing a sustainable, food-secure future for the continent. This paper is therefore situated at the convergence of technology, environmental stewardship, and sustainable development, seeking to recommend the pathways through which AI can be leveraged to transcend the current limitations and usher in a new era of agricultural prosperity in Africa.

Methodology

In addressing the pivotal question of how AI technologies can enhance climate resilience and sustainability within the agricultural sectors of Kenya, South Africa, and Ghana, this paper undertakes a focused methodology. This approach is tailored to explore the transformative potential of AI against the backdrop of climate change challenges, particularly for smallholder and subsistence farmers. Given the constraints of resources and time, this methodology aims to provide a robust framework for understanding the scope of AI's impact in agriculture whilst acknowledging the limitations inherent in such an exploration.

Structure

- 1. Introduction to the Methodological Approach: At the outset, a comprehensive literature review forms the cornerstone of the methodology. This initial phase involves deep-diving into existing scholarly work and reports that highlight the multifaceted challenges climate change poses to agriculture across Africa. Special attention is given to the vulnerabilities and resilience of smallholder and subsistence farming systems. Concurrently, this review will focus on identifying and analysing studies where AI technologies have been applied within agricultural contexts, highlighting outcomes that have significantly contributed to climate resilience and sustainability. This dual-focused review sets the stage for understanding the current landscape and the potential role of AI in forging a sustainable future for agriculture.
- 2. Case Studies: A Deep Dive into Context-Specific Challenges and Opportunities: Following the literature review, the methodology applies a case study approach, selecting Kenya, South Africa, and Ghana as focal points. These countries, with their diverse agricultural, climatic, and geographical landscapes, offer the appropriate backdrop for examination within the limitations of this project. Through these case studies, the aim is to uncover specific challenges and opportunities for AI technology implementation, providing an in-depth understanding of how AI can serve as a lever for change within varying contexts.
- 3. Assessing Technology and Legal Frameworks: Central to our methodological approach is the assessment of AI technologies themselves. This involves evaluating the current and emerging AI tools and systems that hold promise for agriculture, from predictive analytics and machine learning algorithms to monitoring solutions. Understanding the technical feasibility, scalability, and potential impact of these technologies within the unique constraints of smallholder farming is crucial. Parallel to this technological assessment, an examination of legal and policy frameworks governing AI use in agriculture in each case study country is undertaken. This includes analysing policies on data privacy, technology deployment, and supportive measures for technology adoption, identifying both enablers and barriers within the policy environment.

Limitations Acknowledgement

Acknowledging the limitations of this study is vital for setting realistic expectations. Resource and time constraints have limited the depth and breadth of case studies, potentially affecting the comprehensive analysis of technology and legal frameworks. Additionally, the variability in legal standards and the level of technological accessibility among smallholder and subsistence farmers across different countries could impact the generalisability of findings and recommendations.

Conclusion: Analysis, Recommendations, and Policy Implications

This methodological approach concludes in the analysis of collected data and the formulation of targeted recommendations. By synthesising insights from the literature review, case studies, technology, and legal framework assessments, the paper aims to outline practical and policy-oriented strategies to foster AI adoption in agriculture. The goal is to highlight pathways towards integrating AI technologies that not only mitigate the adverse effects of climate change but also enhance the overall resilience and sustainability of agricultural practices. This undertaking, whilst mindful of its limitations, seeks to contribute valuable knowledge and recommendations that could guide stakeholders, including policymakers, technologists, and the farming community, towards realising the potential of AI in securing a sustainable agricultural future in Africa.

Literature Review and Analysis

This review and analysis of the nexus between climate change and agricultural productivity in Africa is critical to understanding food security. As the adverse effects of climate variability increasingly threaten the livelihoods of smallholder and subsistence farmers across the continent, the urgency to develop adaptive strategies and innovative solutions has never been more pronounced. This review integrates a broad spectrum of research, policy reports, and technological assessments, laying a comprehensive foundation on the multifaceted impacts of climate change on African agriculture and the critical role that AI and digital technologies can play in fostering resilience and sustainability. At the core of this discourse is the recognition of climate change as a formidable challenge to agricultural productivity, food security, and economic stability. Foundational studies by scholars such as Lobell, Schlenker, Costa-Roberts, and Wheeler and von Braun, along with comprehensive assessments by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), will provide an empirical basis for understanding these impacts. These studies will affirm the critical need for adaptive strategies that mitigate climate change's adverse effects, particularly on Africa's smallholder farmers who are disproportionately affected due to existing socio-economic and infrastructural challenges.

Building on this empirical foundation, the review will highlight the transformative potential of AI and digital technologies as innovative tools capable of enhancing agricultural resilience. From predictive analytics and resource optimisation to decision support systems, it will illustrate how AI offers unprecedented opportunities to address the complexities of climate variability. It will nonetheless show that these technological prospects, however, require a supportive ecosystem characterised by robust digital infrastructure, inclusive policies, and capacity-building initiatives. This will be backed up by reports from institutions like the World Bank, the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD), and the McKinsey Global Institute which outline the importance of digital connectivity and literacy as foundational elements for harnessing the full potential of technological innovations in agriculture. The analysis will furthermore dive into the crucial role of policy frameworks and international cooperation in facilitating the adoption of AI technologies. It will advocate for an approach that integrates technological innovation with strategic policy interventions, ensuring that AI-driven solutions are inclusive, equitable, and aligned with broader sustainability goals. The emphasis on ethical guidelines and stakeholder engagement will be shown to reflect a collective

recognition of the need for collaborative efforts to leverage AI for good, particularly in the context of agricultural sustainability and environmental preservation.

Empirical Foundations and Climate Impacts

A study by Lobell, Schlenker, and Costa-Roberts provided a comprehensive analysis of the impact of climate trends on global crop production since 1980. Their research meticulously assessed the ways in which shifting climate patterns have influenced the productivity of major crops, highlighting significant implications for food security worldwide. By examining data over several decades, the study shed light on the complex relationship between climate change and agricultural output, providing valuable perspectives that are particularly relevant to understanding the challenges faced by the African agriculture sector. Their work emphasised the critical need for adaptive strategies to mitigate the adverse effects of climate change on crop production and ensure sustainable food systems in the future.⁶ Wheller and von Braun explored the profound effects of climate change on global food security. Exploring the multifaceted impact that climate change has on agricultural productivity, the fluctuation of food prices, and the overall vulnerability of food systems worldwide, they argued that these changes not only threaten availability and access to food but can also exacerbate the challenges faced by communities that are already vulnerable. Through detailed analysis, their study underlined the urgency of addressing climate change to ensure the resilience and stability of global food supplies.⁷ In the comprehensive chapter on Africa from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's Fifth Assessment Report, Niang et al. explored the intricate vulnerabilities of African agriculture to climate change, focusing on the continent's geographical and climatological realities. This work provided a detailed examination of how climate change is expected to exacerbate existing challenges in African agriculture, including impacts on water availability, crop yields, and food security. By analysing various scenarios and potential impacts, the authors asserted the urgency of implementing adaptive measures and policies to safeguard agricultural productivity and food security in Africa. Niang et al.'s chapter highlighted the critical need for

⁶ Lobell, D. B., Schlenker, W., & Costa-Roberts, J., (2011) *Climate Trends and Global Crop Production Since 1980.* Science, 333(6042), 616-620. DOI: 10.1126/science.1204531.

⁷ Wheeler T., & von Braun, J. (2013) *Climate Change Impacts on Global Food Security*. Science, 9341(6145), 508-513. DOI: 10.1126/science.1239402.

targeted research and intervention strategies that take into account the unique environmental, social, and economic contexts of African countries in the face of global climate change.⁸

A number of sources can be cited to substantiate the claims regarding the geographical and climatological vulnerabilities of African agriculture, the specific impacts on smallholder and subsistence farmers, the compounded severity of climate impacts due to existing socio-economic and infrastructural constraints, and the critical need for innovative, multi-faceted solutions. Each of these sources can provide empirical data, theoretical frameworks, case studies, and policy analyses that underscore the critical nature of climate change impacts on African agriculture. They offer a solid foundation for understanding the multifaceted challenges posed by climate change, particularly to smallholder and subsistence farmers, and the innovative solutions required to address these challenges effectively. In a comprehensive assessment by the IPCC, the unique vulnerabilities of the African continent to climate change are meticulously documented, underscoring the multifaceted impacts on ecosystems, human health, and, notably, agricultural systems. With the continent at a critical juncture, the report's call for intensified research, funding, and policy interventions resonates with the urgent need to explore innovative adaptation strategies. This literature review aligns with the IPCC's emphasis on leveraging technological advancements, particularly AI, to foster a resilient agricultural sector capable of withstanding the escalating threats posed by climate change. It positions AI's transformative potential as a cornerstone in not only addressing the immediate adaptive needs but also in orchestrating long-term sustainability and resilience efforts across the continent.9

The UNFCCC Report stressed the escalating threat of climate change on the African continent, particularly on agriculture, food security, and rural livelihoods, arguing these threats necessitate an urgent pivot towards innovative adaptation strategies and resilience-building measures. The report's findings corroborate the critical examination within this review of the potential for AI technologies to serve as a cornerstone in these adaptive strategies. It underscores the imperative for robust policy frameworks that not only foster technological innovation but also ensure that such advancements are equitably accessible and tailored to the unique needs of African

⁸ Niang, I., Ruppel, O. C., Abdrabi, M. A., Essel, A., Lennard, C., Padgham, J., Urquhart, P. (2014) *Africa*, in *Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability*, Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

⁹ IPCC (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptations, Vulnerability – Chapter 6: Africa

agricultural communities.¹⁰ McKinsey addressed the profound effects of climate change on agricultural productivity and economic stability in Africa. Through meticulous case studies and analysis, the Mckinsey report not only delineated the anticipated declines in crop yields but also articulated the economic ramifications for the continent's agricultural societies. In alignment with McKinsey's call for robust mitigation strategies, they further investigated the integration of AI technologies as a fundamental mechanism for enhancing agricultural resilience. The convergence of empirical insights from McKinsey & Company with the potentialities of AI stresses the need for the multi-faceted approach to mitigating climate change impacts, thereby reinforcing the necessity for a concerted effort in policy innovation and technological adoption.¹¹ Similarly, a report by the Adaptation of African Agriculture (AAA Initiative) emphasised the acute vulnerability of African agriculture to climate fluctuations, advocating for a paradigm shift where adaptation emerges as a central pillar in public policy. This initiative called for bolstered support, facilitated funding access, and enhanced international cooperation echoes through this review's exploration of AI's potential in transforming agricultural resilience. By aligning AI's innovative capabilities with the strategic priorities outlined by the AAA Initiative, a compelling case is made for a holistic approach to climate adaptation. It emphasises the symbiotic relationship between technological innovation, policy advocacy, and global partnerships in securing a sustainable future for African agriculture amidst the looming challenges posed by climate change.¹²

Building upon the foundational insights provided by Lobell, Schlenker, Costa-Roberts, Wheeler and von Braun, and further elaborated by the IPCC's comprehensive assessments, it is evident that Africa's smallholder farmers are particularly vulnerable to the multifaceted impacts of climate change. This vulnerability is exacerbated by existing socio-economic and infrastructural challenges, making the need for innovative, adaptive strategies imperative. The convergence of climate science with the potential of technological solutions, such as artificial intelligence, as highlighted in reports by the IPCC, UNFCCC, and initiatives like the McKinsey report and the Adaptation of African Agriculture, suggests a path forward. These analyses collectively underscore the critical nature of tailoring adaptation efforts to the unique needs of smallholder farmers, leveraging AI and other advancements to enhance agricultural resilience, food security, and livelihoods against the backdrop of an increasingly unpredictable climate.

¹⁰ UNFCCC (2020) Climate Change is an Increasing Threat to Africa

¹¹ McKinsey & Company (2020) *Effects of Climate Change on Agriculture in Africa*.

¹² Adaptation of African Agriculture (AAA Initiative), (2020) *AAA Initiative*

Technological Innovation and Building Digital Resilience

The potential of AI innovations to revolutionise the resilience of Africa's agriculture against climate change is promising. AI can offer precise, data-driven insights for smallholder farmers, enabling them to make informed decisions about crop selection, irrigation, and harvesting times, thereby significantly mitigating the adverse effects of climate variability. Advanced predictive models can forecast weather patterns and pest invasions, allowing for pre-emptive actions that safeguard crops and livelihoods. Furthermore, AI-driven technologies such as satellite imagery and machine learning algorithms can optimise resource use, improve soil health, and increase crop yields, directly contributing to food security. By integrating AI tools into agricultural practices, smallholder farmers can transcend traditional farming limitations, adapting more effectively to the challenges posed by climate change. This technological leap would not only support the sustainability of agricultural production but can also empower communities, ensuring economic stability and resilience in the face of environmental uncertainties.

The World Bank underscored the imperative of constructing food systems in Africa that can withstand the adversities of climate change, highlighting the key role of targeted investments in agriculture. Central to this is the empowerment of smallholder farmers, who are particularly susceptible to climate shocks, through enhanced resilience and food security measures. This review identified AI as a critical lever in actualising the World Bank's vision, offering innovative approaches for risk assessment, resource optimisation, and access to critical agricultural and market information.¹³

The capacity of AI to drive efficiencies across the agricultural value chain directly aligns with the need for climate-resilient food systems, illustrating a co-operative pathway to bolstering the resilience of smallholder farmers against the backdrop of escalating climate uncertainties. CGIAR's analysis further emphasised the transformative potential of science-based solutions in redefining the agricultural landscape in Africa, advocating for a robust investment in agricultural technology (ag-tech) startups and the formulation of supportive policies. This is aligned with the growing role of AI in agriculture, emphasising the need for an ecosystem that not only fosters technological innovation but also bridges the significant gap between scientific advancements and their practical application on the ground. The advocacy for strong

¹³ World Bank (2023) Building Climate Resilient Food Systems in Africa

private-public partnerships by CGIAR and the bolstering of local ag-tech companies presents a strategic pathway to catalyse the adoption of AI-driven solutions. Such collaborative efforts are paramount in ensuring that the scientific innovations underpinning AI technologies can be translated into tangible benefits for African agriculture, enhancing productivity, resilience, and sustainability.14

A UNFCCC study highlighted the crucial role that AI has in steering global efforts towards climate-resilient and low-emissions development. The study showcased a range of AI-enabled innovations that promise to redefine adaptation strategies. Among these, precision agriculture stands out for Africa where the agricultural sector is particularly vulnerable to the impacts of climate change. The study notes that through AI, farmers can access detailed insights into weather forecasts, soil health, and crop needs, allowing for precise interventions that conserve resources and enhance productivity.¹⁵ This approach not only aligns with the urgent need for climate adaptation but also contributes to the broader goals of sustainable development by minimising agriculture's carbon footprint. The UNFCCC's exploration into AI's applications in climate action underscores the technology's potential to bridge the gap between current practices and the necessity for a more resilient, efficient, and sustainable agricultural future. In line with global ambitions outlined in the 2030 Agenda, the UN has recognised AI's transformative potential across various sectors, notably in enhancing weather forecasting and bolstering disaster prevention measures. These notables resonate deeply with the challenges faced by African agriculture, where AI's predictive capabilities emerge as a key in mitigating the adverse effects of climate change. By leveraging AI for accurate and timely weather forecasts, African farmers can make informed decisions that enhance crop resilience and yield, thereby contributing significantly to the SDGs' aims of ending hunger and achieving food security. Moreover, AI's role in disaster prevention can provide critical insights for developing robust adaptive strategies, ensuring that agricultural practices are not only sustainable but also aligned with broader global efforts to safeguard against climatic uncertainties.

Young looked beyond AI's transformative impact on agriculture, examining capabilities that extend into critical areas of environmental sustainability and climate change mitigation. The Harvard International Review points out innovative uses of AI in curbing global warming, such

¹⁴ CGIAR (2023) Science Based Solutions Key to Transforming Agriculture in Africa

¹⁵ UNFCCC (2023) AI for Climate Action: Technology Mechanism Supports Transformational Climate Solutions. (https://unfccc.int/news/ai-for-climate-action-technology-mechanism-supports-transformational-climate-solutions)

as its application in monitoring urban heat islands and enhancing energy efficiency in buildings. These applications demonstrate the role of AI in urban and environmental planning, where data-driven insights can lead to more effective strategies for reducing heat absorption in cities and significantly lowering energy consumption in buildings. This broader perspective on AI's utility underscores the technology's versatility in addressing a range of climate-related challenges, offering valuable lessons and inspiration for deploying AI in African agriculture to enhance resilience and sustainability.¹⁶ Xin et al's further exploration into the disruptive potential of AI in climate change impacts offers compelling insights into the technology's capacity to transform approaches to assessing, predicting, and mitigating climate risks. Notably, they assert that the advancement of AI-driven models for weather forecasting present a paradigm shift, offering agricultural stakeholders unparalleled accuracy in predictions that are crucial for crop management under the spectre of climate variability. They furthermore observe that the utility of AI extends to comprehensive environmental monitoring. This, they observe, enable a detailed understanding of land use changes, water resource dynamics, and biodiversity trends. They note that these capabilities not only empower farmers with actionable intelligence but also pave the way for sustainable agricultural practices that are responsive to the evolving environmental landscape.¹⁷ Hellin, Fisher & Taylor et al, through CABI Agriculture and Bioscience, conducted empirical investigations in South Asia and Latin America. These empirical investigations shed light on the complex outcomes of agricultural adaptation measures like rainwater harvesting and the system of rice intensification (SRI). Their findings reveal a stark disparity in the benefits of these adaptations, predominantly favouring wealthier farmers over their marginalised counterparts. They noted that this divergence underscores the critical need for inclusive strategies in the deployment of adaptation technologies, including AI. Accordingly, they emphasised the importance of designing and implementing agricultural technologies and practices in a manner that bridges the socio-economic divide, ensuring that the transformative potential of such innovations reaches all segments of the farming community, thereby contributing to a more equitable and sustainable agricultural future.¹⁸ The examination by Srivastava and Maity into the potential of AI and Machine Learning (ML) technologies in urban settings reveals a pathway towards climate change adaptation and sustainable development that is both innovative and insightful, and can be adapted for farming. The study

¹⁶ Sydney Young, (2020). *The Future of Farming: Artificial Intelligence and Agriculture* (Harvard International Review)

¹⁷ Qin Xin, Ravi Samikannu & Chulian Wei. *Artificial Intelligence for Climate Change Risk Prediction, Adaptation & Mitigation*

¹⁸ Helle, J., Fisher, E., Taylor, M., *et al. Transformative Adaptation: From Climate Smart to Climate Resilient Agriculture*. CABI Agricultural Bioscience 4(30) (2023)

underlined the necessity for context-specific solutions, advocating for collaborative approaches that harness local knowledge and stakeholder engagement. This insight resonates with agricultural applications of AI, where the technology's potential is maximised in settings that consider the unique ecological, cultural, and socio-economic contexts. Furthermore, their emphasis on collaboration highlights the importance of involving farmers, agricultural experts, and technology developers in the design and implementation of AI solutions, ensuring that these innovations are grounded in the real-world needs and challenges of those they aim to serve.¹⁹

The OECD examined agriculture's intricate relationship with climate change – its dual role as both a contributor to and a victim of environmental shifts. This duality, it noted, underlined the urgent need for transformative policies aimed at enhancing the sector's adaptability and mitigating its impact on the climate. In this context, AI emerged as a key technology, offering innovative solutions for precision farming, resource management, and carbon sequestration. The OECD's emphasis on policy interventions aligns with the potential for AI-driven technologies to catalyse a shift towards more resilient and sustainable agricultural practices. By integrating AI into strategic policy frameworks, there is an opportunity to address the challenges posed by climate change proactively, ensuring agriculture's contribution to global sustainability goals.²⁰ CGIAR's comprehensive analysis of climate-smart agriculture (CSA) strategies revealed the path toward integrating adaptation and mitigation efforts into the global agricultural agenda. These strategies, aimed at enhancing resilience, sustainability, and food security, indicated the critical role of innovative technologies, notably AI, in revolutionising agricultural practices. CGIAR underlined how AI capabilities in predictive analytics, resource optimisation, and decision support systems exemplify how technology can be harnessed to implement CSA practices effectively, thereby contributing to global sustainability goals. This alignment between CGIAR's CSA framework and AI-driven agricultural innovation fosters a robust discourse on sustainable development, advocating leveraging technological advancements to address the dual challenges of climate change and food security.²¹

¹⁹ Aman Srivastava and Rajib Maity. (2023). Assessing the Potential of AI-ML in Urban Climate Change Adaptation and Sustainable Development. Sustainability 15(23)(2023)

²⁰ OECD (2018). *Agriculture and Climate Change Impacts: Impacts, Mitigation and Adaptation.* (https://www.oecd.org/greengrowth/sustainable-agriculture/agriculture-and-climate-change.htm)

²¹ CGIAR (2022). Climate Smart Agriculture: Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies at the Global Scale. (<u>https://www.cgiar.org/research/publication/climate-smart-agriculture-mitigation-strategies-global-scale/</u>)

Pardo's exploration of AI's transformative impact on climate change mitigation highlighted a suite of innovative applications, from enhancing climate monitoring and predictions to advancing sustainable agricultural practices and enabling the early detection of forest fires. These applications emphasise AI's potential to serve as a critical tool in both understanding and combating climate change. Specifically, they underline how AI's role in sustainable agriculture reflects a promising pathway for reducing the environmental footprint of farming practices while maintaining productivity. These illustrate the critical importance of integrating AI technologies into broader strategies for climate change mitigation, highlighting the technology's potential to contribute significantly to global sustainability efforts.²² Lewis and Douglas in an MDPI Climate Special Issue dedicated to sustainable agriculture for climate change adaptation presented a multifaceted examination of the sector's vulnerabilities and the essential strategies for resilience. They detailed the diverse impacts of climate change on agricultural productivity and food security; the Special Issue publication underscored the urgent need for integrated mitigation and adaptation measures. It advocated for a holistic approach that combines the latest in technological advancements, including AI and ML for precision agriculture, with time-honoured practices like diversified cropping systems, to fortify the agricultural sector against climatic shifts. This rich compilation of research highlighted the dynamic interplay between innovation and tradition in crafting sustainable, adaptable agricultural practices that can withstand the challenges posed by climate change.²³

These collective insights from various studies underscore the critical role of AI in transforming agriculture towards resilience and sustainability, especially in the context of climate change. These findings collectively advocate for leveraging AI's predictive analytics and resource optimisation capabilities to not only enhance agricultural practices but also to ensure they are inclusive and aligned with global efforts towards environmental sustainability and climate adaptation. The 2023 UNFCCC study, alongside contributions from researchers and institutions like Young, Xin *et al*, Hellin, Fisher & Taylor *et al*, and the insights of Srivastava and Maity, collectively underscore the transformative potential of AI in addressing the dual challenge of climate change and agricultural sustainability. These studies highlight AI's role in precision agriculture, especially in vulnerable regions like Africa, and its broader applications in environmental monitoring. The insights emphasise the necessity of inclusive strategies that

²² Melissa Pardo, (2024). AI and Climate Change: Artificial Intelligence for a Sustainable Future.

²³ Kathy Lewis & Douglas Warner (eds)(2020). *Sustainable Agriculture for Climate Change Adaptation*. (Special eds)

ensure equitable access to AI technologies, advocating for context-specific solutions that incorporate local knowledge and stakeholder engagement. Organisations like the OECD and CGIAR underline agriculture's intricate relationship with climate change, pointing to the capabilities of AI in predictive analytics, resource optimisation, and decision support systems as essential for revolutionising agricultural practices. Moreover, the exploration of the role of AI in climate change mitigation, including enhancing climate monitoring and sustainable practices, further reveals its importance in crafting a resilient, adaptable agricultural future. This collective body of work consequently advocates for a holistic approach, leveraging AI to bridge the gap between current practices and the necessity for a more resilient, efficient, and sustainable agricultural landscape, aligned with global sustainability efforts and the urgent need for climate adaptation.

Policy Frameworks and Ethical Considerations

It is necessary to also consider the policy and other technical frameworks for enabling AI in agriculture – in Africa. Navigating the intricate policy and technological landscapes requires a deepened understanding of the multifaceted impacts of climate change on agriculture, as set out by foundational research such as the studies by Lobell, Schlenker, Costa-Roberts, and Wheeler and von Braun, alongside comprehensive assessments like the IPCC's. These works collectively indicate the urgent need for adaptive strategies to mitigate climate change's adverse effects on crop production, food security, and the economic stability of agricultural communities, particularly in Africa. The highlighted research establishes a critical foundation for exploring innovative solutions, with a significant focus on AI as a transformative tool capable of enhancing agricultural resilience and sustainability.

As this paper transitions into discussing the policy and technology landscapes, it is essential to leverage the empirical data, theoretical frameworks, and policy analyses presented in the preceding studies to advocate for robust, inclusive policies and innovative technological interventions. These interventions must aim to bolster the resilience of smallholder and subsistence farmers against the backdrop of climate variability, leveraging the capabilities of AI innovations in predictive analytics, resource optimisation, and decision support systems. This approach aligns with global sustainability efforts, emphasising the need for collaborative strategies that integrate local knowledge, stakeholder engagement, and technological innovation to address the unique challenges faced by African agriculture in the era of climate change. The

integration of AI into strategic policy frameworks, as advocated by organisations like the OECD, CGIAR, and through initiatives like the McKinsey report and the Adaptation of African Agriculture (AAA Initiative), presents a promising pathway towards achieving a resilient, efficient, and sustainable agricultural future, underscoring the imperative of a multi-faceted approach that marries scientific innovation with practical, on-the-ground applications to navigate the complex policy and technology landscapes ahead.

The World Bank's World Development Report 2016: Digital Dividends outlined the critical role of digital technologies in propelling development across various sectors, with a notable impact on agricultural productivity. The report highlighted how innovations in digital technology offer unprecedented opportunities to enhance agricultural efficiency, improve resource management, and increase the resilience of food systems against climatic challenges. However, it also stressed the foundational role of digital infrastructure and policy in harnessing these dividends. Without widespread access to reliable digital connectivity and the necessary technological frameworks, the transformative potential of digital solutions in agriculture could remain largely untapped. This emphasises the need for concerted efforts in building and enhancing digital infrastructure policies as a prerequisite for leveraging technology to achieve sustainable agricultural development.²⁴ The International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) in its 2018 report, Innovations in Digital Agriculture: Opportunities for Smallholders, elaborated on the substantial benefits that digital technologies, particularly AI, can bring to smallholder agriculture. The report highlighted AI's potential in revolutionising aspects of farming from crop yield optimisation to market linkage, thereby contributing to increased productivity and sustainability for small-scale farmers. Crucially, the IFAD report emphasised the need for supportive policies that enhance digital literacy and ensure widespread access to these technologies. Such policies, the report noted, are crucial for empowering smallholder farmers to leverage AI and other digital tools, marking a significant step towards bridging the digital divide in rural communities. By fostering an environment where digital literacy and access are prioritised, smallholder farmers can fully engage with the digital innovations shaping the future of agriculture, ensuring that the benefits of AI extend across the agricultural sector.²⁵ The FAO and ITU's collaborative publication, E-agriculture in Action: AI for Agriculture, provided a

²⁴ World Bank (2016. World Development Report 2016: Digital Dividends. (The World Bank) (https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2016)

²⁵ International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD). (2018). *Innovations in Digital Agriculture: Opportunities for* Smallbolders. IFAD. https://www.ifad.org/documents/38714170/41187395/Innovations+digital+agriculture.pdf

compelling overview of how AI is redefining the agricultural landscape. Through a series of case studies, the publication illustrated the capacity of AI to significantly improve crop yield predictions, optimise pest control strategies, and enhance the overall efficiency of farm management systems. These advancements illustrate the potential for AI to address some of the most pressing challenges in agriculture, offering scalable solutions that can lead to increased productivity and sustainability. Moreover, the publication highlighted the critical role of supportive policies and capacity-building efforts in ensuring that the benefits of AI can be accessed across the agricultural sector. It points to the need for a holistic approach that combines technological innovation with strategic policy frameworks and educational initiatives, thereby enabling a more inclusive and effective adoption of AI technologies in agriculture.²⁶

The McKinsey Global Institute's report on *Tackling Africa's Digital Divide* addressed the pivotal role of digital infrastructure in unlocking the transformative potential of AI in agriculture across the continent. McKinsey's analysis showed that bridging the digital divide through increased investments in digital infrastructure is paramount for facilitating widespread access to AI technologies, which in turn can drive significant advancements in agricultural innovation. The report argued that enhancing digital connectivity not only supports the adoption of AI-driven solutions for improved crop yield predictions, pest control, and efficient resource management but also catalyses economic growth by empowering farmers with the tools necessary for sustainable agricultural practices. This insight into the necessity of robust digital infrastructure highlights a critical pathway toward achieving agricultural resilience and productivity, suggesting that targeted investments can play a transformative role in equipping Africa's agricultural sector for the challenges and opportunities of the digital age.²⁷

The African Union's (AU) Digital Transformation Strategy for Africa articulates a visionary commitment to leveraging digital technologies, including AI, to catalyse economic growth and sustainable development across the continent. With a special emphasis on agriculture, the strategy outlines a comprehensive policy framework designed to facilitate the seamless integration of digital technologies into agricultural practices. This initiative not only demonstrates the continental commitment to technological advancement but also highlights the

²⁶ FAO Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations & International Telecommunication Union. (2019). *E-agriculture in Action: AI for Agriculture*. FAO and ITU. (<u>http://www.fao.org/3/ca4316en/ca4316en.pdf</u>)

²⁷ McKinsey Global Institute. (2020). *Tackling Africa's Digital Divide*. McKinsey & Company. <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/middle-east-and-africa/tackling-africas-digital-divide</u>

strategic role of digitalisation in enhancing agricultural productivity, resilience, and sustainability. By fostering an enabling environment for digital innovation, the strategy seeks to bridge the digital divide and ensure that the benefits of technological advancements are equitably distributed, thereby reinforcing the critical importance of digital transformation in achieving agricultural and economic development goals across Africa.²⁸ The African Development Bank Group's (AfDB) report on Digital Agriculture: Africa's Future, articulated a compelling vision for the role of digital technologies in reshaping the agricultural landscape of Africa. The AfDB identified digitalisation as a catalyst for agricultural innovation, offering pathways to improved productivity, enhanced resilience to climate variability, and greater sustainability. Critical to realising this vision, the report recognised the necessity of substantial investments in digital infrastructure and education, aiming to equip the agricultural workforce with the skills and tools needed to capitalise on digital advancements. Furthermore, the AfDB report called for the establishment of supportive policy frameworks that not only facilitate digital transformation but also ensure it is inclusive and beneficial for all stakeholders within the agricultural sector. This holistic approach to digital agriculture highlights the interconnectedness of technology, infrastructure, education, and policy in driving the sector towards a more prosperous and sustainable future.²⁹

The *Ethical Guidelines for AI in Africa* published by the AI4D Africa Initiative can serve as a critical framework for navigating the complex ethical landscape surrounding the deployment of AI technologies on the continent. These guidelines emphasised the paramount importance of data privacy, security, and inclusivity, ensuring that AI applications, including those in agriculture, adhere to principles that safeguard individual rights and promote equitable access to technology's benefits. By applying these ethical standards, AI-driven agricultural innovations can transcend mere technological advancements, evolving into tools that foster sustainable development and social equity. The implementation of such ethical guidelines is instrumental in guiding the development of AI solutions that not only enhance agricultural productivity and resilience but also align with broader societal values and the pursuit of inclusive growth.³⁰ The ITU's *AI for Good Global Summit* reports offer valuable international perspectives on the

²⁸ African Union (2020). Digital Transformation Strategy for Africa (2020 – 2030).

⁽https://au.int/en/documents/20200207/digital-transformation-strategy-africa-2020-2030)

²⁹ African Development Bank Group. (2019). *Digital Agriculture: Africa's Future*. AfDB. <u>https://www.afdb.org/en/documents/digital-agriculture-africas-future</u>

³⁰ AI4D Africa Initiative. (2020). *Ethical Guidelines for AI in Africa*. AI4D Africa. <u>https://www.ai4d.ai/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/AI4D-Ethical-Guidelines-for-AI-in-Africa.pdf</u>

application of AI in agriculture, demonstrating its potential to significantly contribute to global food security. These reports highlighted a range of AI-driven innovations, from precision farming techniques that optimise resource use to predictive analytics for crop management under changing climate conditions. Moreover, the summit underscored the critical need for international cooperation and adherence to ethical principles in the development and deployment of AI technologies. Such a collaborative approach ensures that AI solutions are developed with a focus on inclusivity and equity, addressing the needs of diverse agricultural communities worldwide. By emphasising these aspects, the ITU reports advocated for a unified global effort in harnessing AI for good, demonstrating the technology's immense potential to tackle some of the most pressing challenges in contemporary agriculture.³¹

The World Economic Forum (WEF), in its insights publication *Harnessing Artificial Intelligence for the Earth*, explored the vast potential of AI in driving environmental sustainability across multiple sectors, including agriculture. The report elaborated on how AI can revolutionise sustainable agricultural practices by enabling more precise application of water and fertilisers, predicting crop yields with greater accuracy, and identifying sustainable crop rotation patterns. Furthermore, the publication underlined the necessity of fostering collaborative efforts among stakeholders at all levels to ensure that AI technologies are deployed in a manner that prioritises ethical considerations, social equity, and environmental preservation. Such collaborative frameworks are essential for ensuring that AI's deployment in agriculture not only boosts productivity but also aligns with broader sustainability goals, making significant strides towards mitigating environmental challenges through innovative technological solutions.³²

In this analytical exploration of the impact and necessity of AI and digital technologies in transforming African agriculture, particularly in the context of climate change and sustainability challenges, several key insights emerge from the synthesis of foundational research, policy reports, and technological assessments. These insights collectively frame the discourse on the adaptive strategies required to mitigate the adverse effects of climate change on agriculture and the pivotal role of technological innovation in this domain.

³¹ International Telecommunication Union (ITU). *AI for Good Global Summit Reports*.

³² World Economic Forum. (2018). *Harnessing Artificial Intelligence for the Earth*. World Economic Forum. <u>https://www.weforum.org/reports/harnessing-artificial-intelligence-for-the-earth</u>

The urgency of developing adaptive strategies to counter the impacts of climate change on agriculture is a recurrent theme underscored by foundational research and comprehensive assessments, including those by Lobell, Schlenker, Costa-Roberts, Wheeler, von Braun, and organisations like the IPCC. This body of work establishes a critical foundation for understanding the pressing need to leverage innovative solutions, particularly AI, as transformative tools capable of enhancing agricultural resilience and sustainability. The potential for AI to revolutionise farming through predictive analytics, resource optimisation, and decision support systems is consistently highlighted as a crucial element in addressing climate variability and bolstering the resilience of smallholder and subsistence farmers. Furthermore, the significance of digital infrastructure and accessibility as foundational elements for unlocking the transformative potential of AI and digital technologies in agriculture is extensively discussed. Reports from the World Bank, IFAD, and the McKinsey Global Institute stress the necessity of building and enhancing digital connectivity and literacy. These are seen as prerequisites for leveraging technological innovations, emphasising targeted investments in digital infrastructure to bridge the digital divide and enable widespread access to these advancements.

Integration of Literature Review

This review has also explored the critical need for supportive policies and capacity-building efforts to ensure the inclusive and effective adoption of AI technologies in agriculture. It underscores the importance of creating an enabling environment for digital innovation, prioritising digital literacy, and ensuring equitable access to technologies. The strategic role of policy frameworks and capacity-building initiatives has been clarified through references to the work of various organisations and initiatives, including the OECD, CGIAR, the African Union, and the African Development Bank Group, which collectively advocate for integrating technological innovation with strategic policy frameworks to propel agricultural and economic development.

Lastly, the review and analysis has emphasised the importance of collaborative and ethical approaches to the deployment of AI technologies. Ethical guidelines, international cooperation, and stakeholder engagement have been identified as critical for developing and deploying AI solutions that are inclusive, equitable, and aligned with broader societal values and sustainability goals. The emphasis on adhering to ethical principles, ensuring social equity, and

fostering collaborative efforts to leverage AI for agricultural sustainability and environmental preservation reflects a consensus on the need for a unified approach in harnessing technology for the greater good. Consequently, the review and analytical exploration has consistently emphasised the multifaceted approach required to harness AI and digital technologies for agricultural transformation in Africa. This approach integrates scientific innovation with practical applications, emphasising the necessity of robust digital infrastructure, supportive policies, capacity building, and ethical deployment of technology. Such a comprehensive strategy is imperative for navigating the complex challenges posed by climate change, ensuring food security, and achieving sustainable agricultural development.

This review and analysis has thus underlined the critical juncture at which African agriculture stands today, poised between enduring challenges and transformative opportunities. The core of its summation lies in recognising the pressing and multifaceted challenge posed by climate change – a challenge that threatens food security, agricultural productivity, and the economic stability of countless communities across the continent. Against this backdrop, the deployment of AI and digital technologies comes up not merely as an innovative option but as an essential strategy for adaptive resilience and sustainability. The foundational research and comprehensive assessments cited reveal a clear consensus on the urgency of developing adaptive strategies to mitigate climate change's adverse effects on agriculture. AI and digital technologies are spotlighted as transformative tools, with the potential to enhance agricultural resilience through predictive analytics, resource optimisation, and decision support systems. These technologies hold promise for addressing climate variability, improving food security, and supporting the livelihoods of smallholder and subsistence farmers, who are most vulnerable to climate-induced uncertainties. However, the realisation of this promise is contingent upon the establishment of robust digital infrastructure and widespread access to digital technologies. The analyses from various authoritative sources stress that without significant investments in digital connectivity and literacy, the transformative potential of these technologies may remain largely untapped. Thus, enhancing digital infrastructure is identified as a foundational step towards leveraging technology for sustainable agricultural development. Equally crucial is the development and implementation of supportive policies and capacity-building efforts that ensure the inclusive and effective adoption of AI technologies. The analysis underscores the need for an enabling environment that prioritises digital literacy, equitable access to technology, and the integration of technological innovation with strategic policy frameworks. This is essential for fostering agricultural and economic development that is inclusive, equitable, and sustainable. Moreover,

the review and analysis has highlighted the imperative of collaborative and ethical approaches in deploying AI technologies. The emphasis on ethical guidelines, international cooperation, and stakeholder engagement points to a broader understanding that technological solutions must be developed and implemented in ways that are socially equitable, environmentally sustainable, and aligned with broader societal values. The analysis articulates a vision for a future in which AI and digital technologies play a pivotal role in transforming African agriculture. This vision encompasses not just the adoption of technological innovations but also the creation of a conducive ecosystem characterised by strong digital infrastructure, supportive policies, collaborative efforts, and ethical practices. Achieving this vision requires a concerted and multifaceted approach, underscoring the collective responsibility of governments, international organisations, the private sector, and communities to navigate the complex terrain of technological advancement in the face of climate change. Collectively, this literature calls for a unified effort to harness the power of AI and digital technologies as vital instruments in securing a resilient, productive, and sustainable agricultural future for Africa.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this review and analysis has provided a compelling narrative on the imperative of leveraging AI and digital technologies to navigate the challenges posed by climate change in African agriculture. It calls for a unified approach that intertwines scientific innovation with practical applications, emphasising the need for a conducive ecosystem that supports technological advancement, policy innovation, and collaborative action. Accordingly, it affirms that by harnessing the transformative potential of AI and digital technologies, there exists a promising pathway towards achieving a resilient, productive, and sustainable agricultural future for Africa, underscoring the collective responsibility of global and local actors in these efforts.

Through this comprehensive analysis on the interplay between climate change, agriculture in Africa, and the transformative role of AI and digital technologies, the need to address the nexus of climate change and food security, some of the most pressing challenges of our time become evident. The review and analysis have meticulously examined the empirical domains shaped by foundational research, systematically explored the pathways of technological innovation, and highlighted the critical importance of supportive policy frameworks and ethical considerations. The convergence of these illustrate a path forward that is both ambitious and necessary,

highlighting the critical role of AI and digital technologies in crafting a future where African agriculture not only survives but thrives in the face of climate change.

The synthesis of insights from a diverse array of studies and reports has underlined the acute vulnerability of African agriculture to the adverse effects of climate variability. Yet, it has also brought to the fore the remarkable potential of AI and digital technologies to mitigate these impacts through enhanced predictive analytics, resource optimisation, and decision support systems. These technological solutions offer hope for smallholder and subsistence farmers, if they can be provided with the tools to adapt more effectively to an increasingly unpredictable climate. However, the realisation of this potential is contingent upon the establishment of robust digital infrastructure, accessible digital technologies, and an ecosystem that fosters innovation and inclusivity.

The review and analysis has also revealed the essential role of policy interventions and capacity-building efforts in ensuring the equitable and effective adoption of these technologies. By creating an enabling environment that prioritises digital literacy and accessibility, stakeholders across the spectrum can leverage AI to propel agricultural productivity, resilience, and sustainability. Furthermore, the emphasis on ethical guidelines and collaborative approaches have highlighted the need for a broader understanding that technological advancements must be guided by principles that ensure fairness, transparency, and respect for individual rights.

It is therefore clear that the challenges posed by climate change to African agriculture demand a response that is multifaceted, innovative, and inclusive. The deployment of AI and digital technologies within this context does not represent a mere technological leap; it signifies a strategic imperative to ensure food security, enhance livelihoods, and foster economic stability across the continent. The path ahead requires a concerted effort from governments, international organisations, the private sector, and communities to harness the power of technology in service of a more resilient and sustainable agricultural future. Consequently, in the final analysis, this review not only underscores the criticality of embracing AI and digital technologies but also casts a vision for their role in transforming African agriculture. It advocates for a holistic approach that integrates scientific innovation with practical applications, mindful of the socio-economic realities and environmental imperatives.

Analysis of Agricultural Sectors in South Africa, Kenya, and Ghana

The agricultural sectors of South Africa, Kenya, and Ghana are at a critical moment, confronting the pressing challenges posed by climate change alongside the transformative potential of technological innovations. This comparative analysis will dive into the intricacies of these challenges, offering a detailed perspective on the adaptive strategies and technological integrations that promise resilience and sustainability. By scrutinising the impacts of climate variability, the adoption of artificial intelligence (AI) and digital technologies, the efficacy of policy frameworks, and the criticality of ethical considerations, the case studies intend to explain the pathways that could lead these countries towards a sustainable agricultural future. Despite the diversity in environmental, socio-economic, and technological landscapes across these countries, their collective experience encapsulates the broader struggles, efforts and opportunity facing African agriculture today. The objective is therefore to not only highlight the unique and shared vulnerabilities but also to showcase the innovative approaches being adopted to enhance agricultural productivity, ensure food security, and foster economic stability in the face of evolving global challenges.

Case Study I: South Africa

The case study on South Africa will provide a detailed analysis of the challenges, solutions, and initiatives at play. This will involve dissecting the impact of climate change on South African agriculture, exploring innovative technological interventions, and assessing the policy and ethical considerations necessary for a sustainable agricultural transformation. This narrative will also incorporate references to empirical studies, policy documents, and expert analyses to substantiate the assertions made. South Africa's agricultural sector is a critical component of its economy, providing employment and livelihoods for millions. The sector's vulnerability to climate variability poses significant challenges to food security and economic stability. This paper examines South Africa's response to these challenges, focusing on the integration of artificial intelligence (AI) and digital technologies to enhance agricultural resilience and productivity.

Climate Vulnerabilities in South African Agriculture

The South African agricultural landscape is characterised by its heterogeneity, ranging from arid to subtropical climates. This diversity, while a strength, also renders the sector vulnerable to

varied climate-induced stresses. Studies such as by Archer *et al.* have documented the adverse effects of climate change on South African crop yields, noting significant reductions in staples like maize and wheat due to temperature increases and precipitation variability. The IPCC's Special Report on Climate Change and Land also highlighted the broader risks that climate change poses to food security in places like South Africa, emphasising the urgency of adaptation measures.

Archer, E. R. M., et al. provided a comprehensive analysis of the multifaceted impacts of climate change on agricultural productivity in South Africa, delineating a landscape fraught with both threats and opportunities. Their study illustrated how increased temperatures, erratic precipitation, and extreme weather conditions pose significant challenges to crop yields and farming sustainability in the region. Yet, the study also identified technological innovation as an opportunity, a solution - suggesting that digital technologies and AI have the potential to revolutionise agricultural practices. By enabling more precise irrigation, enhanced pest management, and the selection of climate-resilient crop varieties, these technologies offer pathways to adapt and thrive in the face of climate-induced uncertainties. Archer et al.'s findings underscore the critical need for South Africa to embrace digital agriculture as a strategy for mitigating climate change impacts, presenting a compelling case for the integration of advanced technologies in bolstering the agricultural sector's resilience and productivity.³³ The IPCC's Special Report on Climate Change and Land provided a comprehensive examination of the global interactions between climate change, land use, and agricultural practices, with emphasis on the pressing need for sustainable land management and adaptation strategies. With respect to South Africa, the report's findings highlighted the acute vulnerability of the agricultural sector to climate-induced changes, such as altered precipitation patterns and increased temperatures. These, the report noted, threatened water security, soil health, and crop productivity. The report recommended that adopting sustainable land management practices, enhancing soil health, and implementing climate-smart agricultural techniques can offer significant pathways for mitigating these impacts and improving agricultural resilience in South Africa. For South Africa, these insights underline the importance of integrating climate

³³ Archer, E. R. M., *et al.* (2018). Climate Change and Agricultural Productivity in South Africa: A Story of Threats and Opportunities. *South African Journal of Science*, 114(5/6), Art. #2017-0303. https://doi.org/10.17159/sajs.2018/20170303

adaptation strategies into national agricultural policies and practices, to safeguard food security and promote sustainable development in the face of escalating climate challenges.³⁴

Technological Innovation for Agricultural Resilience

The potential for AI and digital technologies to transform South African agriculture lies in their ability to provide precise, actionable insights. For example, predictive analytics can offer farmers advanced weather forecasting, enabling more informed decision-making around planting and harvesting times. The Precision Agriculture for Development in South Africa (PADSA) project is a demonstration of such initiatives, utilising mobile technology to deliver tailored agricultural advice to smallholder farmers. initiatives like the South African National Space Agency's (SANSA) Earth Observation program further illustrate the application of satellite imagery in monitoring crop health, optimising water use, and improving land management practices. These technological interventions are critical for South Africa, a country where water scarcity is an ever-present challenge.

The study undertaken by the *Precision Agriculture for Development in South Africa* provided a compelling case for the transformative potential of mobile technology in supporting smallholder agriculture. By offering farmers real-time access to crucial information on weather, market dynamics, and best agronomic practices, mobile platforms are shown to significantly enhance agricultural productivity and decision-making among small-scale farmers in South Africa. This technological intervention is particularly crucial in a context where access to information and resources is often a key hold-up for smallholder farmers, impacting their ability to optimise crop yields and improve their livelihoods. The PADSA report's findings recommended, for instance, that mobile technology not only facilitate greater efficiency and productivity in agriculture but also contribute to the broader goals of economic development and poverty reduction by empowering one of the most vulnerable segments of the agricultural community. The PADSA report thus emphasises the practical benefits of digital and mobile technologies in agriculture, particularly for enhancing the productivity and decision-making capabilities of smallholder farmers in South Africa. It underscores the role of technology in addressing specific challenges

³⁴ Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2019). *Special Report on Climate Change and Land*. IPCC. <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/srccl/</u>

faced by small-scale farmers and suggests a pathway towards more inclusive and sustainable agricultural development.³⁵

South Africa has also examined the role of advanced space technologies in agricultural development, underlining the value the country attaches to earth observation for enhancing agricultural productivity and sustainability, providing a clear example of how innovation can be leveraged to address specific challenges faced by the agricultural sector. The South African National Space Agency's (SANSA) Earth Observation Program for Agricultural Development illustrated the innovative application of satellite imagery and data analytics in advancing agricultural practices in South Africa. Through the strategic use of earth observation technologies, the program aims to bolster agricultural productivity, water resource management, and environmental sustainability. These technologies offer a bird's-eye view of agricultural landscapes, enabling precise monitoring of crop health, early detection of potential issues, and informed decision-making that can lead to more efficient and sustainable farming practices. SANSA's initiative exemplifies the potential of space technology to transform agricultural development, offering tools that can help both smallholder and commercial farmers navigate the challenges of modern agriculture, from climate variability to water scarcity. By leveraging earth observation data, South African agriculture can achieve greater productivity and resilience, underscoring the importance of technology in meeting the sector's evolving needs.³⁶

Policy Frameworks and Capacity Building

The integration of AI in agriculture necessitates robust digital infrastructure and enhanced digital literacy. Though South Africa has made strides in these areas, it still faces ongoing challenges. The South African Department of Science and Innovation's Decadal Plan outlined strategies for enhancing digital skills and infrastructure as part of its broader innovation agenda. However, the digital divide remains a significant barrier, with rural areas particularly underserved in terms of connectivity and access to technology. South Africa recognises that policies aimed at bridging this divide are essential for ensuring that the benefits of AI and digital technologies are equitably distributed. For instance, the Comprehensive Rural Development Programme (CRDP) was designed to improve rural livelihoods, partly through

³⁵ Precision Agriculture for Development in South Africa (PADSA). (2021). *Enhancing Smallholder Productivity through Mobile Technology*. PADSA.

³⁶ South African National Space Agency (SANSA). (2020). *Earth Observation Program for Agricultural Development*. SANSA.

enhancing digital access. Nevertheless, targeted investments and policies are required to expand digital literacy programs and infrastructure development, ensuring smallholder farmers can leverage technological innovations.

The South African Department of Science and Innovation's Decadal Plan for 2022-2031 is a comprehensive strategy designed to leverage science, technology, and innovation across five thematic areas: modernising key sectors, exploiting growth in the digital and circular economy, supporting large research initiatives in health and energy, enhancing government efficiency through Science, Technology and Innovation. In addition, it addresses societal challenges like climate change. This forward-looking plan emphasised a whole-of-society approach, seeking not only to advance technological capabilities but also to address the country's and the planet's urgent societal needs, focusing on creating a more enabling environment for innovation, expanding human capabilities, and increasing funding efficiency: it articulated a strategic vision for harnessing science and technology to propel South Africa forward across various sectors, including agriculture. This strategy outlined a commitment to fostering innovation as a key driver of economic growth and societal well-being. It recognised the critical role that technological advancements can play in modernising agricultural practices, enhancing food security, and promoting environmental sustainability . With a focus on the integration of digital technologies and biotechnologies in agriculture, the Decadal Plan sets the stage for significant improvements in productivity and sustainability. By identifying specific areas for development and innovation within the agricultural sector, the plan set out the government's recognition of agriculture's crucial role in the national economy and its potential as a beneficiary of scientific and technological progress.³⁷ The Decadal Plan therefore highlighted how targeted initiatives and a clear vision for the future can facilitate the transformation of the agricultural sector through technological advancements, contributing to broader economic and societal goals.

South Africa's The Department of Rural Development and Land Reform developed a strategic framework – Comprehensive Rural Development Programme (CRDP). This outlined a strategic framework for transforming South Africa's rural economy through enhanced agricultural productivity, sustainable land use, and improved rural livelihoods. The intention in the CRDP is to empower smallholder farmers and rural communities. Its focus is on providing access to land, resources, and necessary infrastructure, thereby facilitating economic growth and sustainability

³⁷ Department of Science and Innovation. (2021). *Decadal Plan (2021-2031): Science, Technology, and Innovation*. Department of Science and Innovation, Government of South Africa.

in the agricultural sector. CRDP's emphasis on initiatives to support agricultural development, including investments in technology and infrastructure, the CRDP underline the critical role of government support in promoting sustainable agricultural practices and ensuring food security; its emphasis on community participation and empowerment are indicative of a holistic approach to rural development, recognising the interconnectedness of agricultural productivity, land reform, and rural livelihoods in building a resilient rural economy.³⁸ Overall, the CRDP demonstrates the South African government's commitment to rural development and agricultural sustainability. It highlights the multifaceted approach required to address the challenges facing rural communities and smallholder farmers, showcasing the potential for targeted programs to drive significant improvements in agricultural productivity and rural livelihoods.

Ethical Considerations and Inclusivity

As AI and digital technologies become more ingrained in South African agriculture, ethical considerations around data privacy, security, and inclusivity have gained prominence. The Responsible AI for Social Empowerment guidelines, developed by South Africa's Council for Scientific and Industrial Research recognised this and emphasised the importance of ethical AI deployment, advocating for transparency, accountability, and equity in AI applications. South Africa additionally recognises that involving local communities in the development and implementation of technological solutions is crucial for addressing the unique challenges faced by South African farmers. This approach ensures that technological innovations are not only technically sound but also culturally sensitive and socially inclusive. The Limpopo Living Labs initiative, which focuses on co-creating digital solutions with local farmers, exemplifies the benefits of participatory design in technology development.

In 2021, South Africa's Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) published the *Responsible AI for Social Empowerment (RAISE) Guidelines*. The RAISE Guidelines were a guiding framework for the ethical development and deployment of artificial intelligence in South Africa. These guidelines demonstrated the importance that South Africa attaches to harnessing AI in a manner that promotes social equity, respects privacy, and ensures transparency. They are intended to position AI as a tool for positive societal change in South Africa. Within the agricultural sector, the RAISE Guidelines clarify pathways through which AI

³⁸ Department of Rural Development and Land Reform. (2019). *Comprehensive Rural Development Programme (CRDP)*. Department of Rural Development and Land Reform, Government of South Africa.

can contribute to sustainable development goals, enhancing agricultural productivity, food security, and rural empowerment. By advocating for AI applications that are accessible to, and supportive of smallholder and marginalised farmers, the guidelines emphasise the role of technology in bridging the digital divide and fostering social empowerment. This approach aligns with broader objectives of sustainable and inclusive agricultural development, illustrating how responsible AI practices can lead to transformative outcomes for communities across South Africa.³⁹ The RAISE Guidelines also stress the importance of ethical considerations in the deployment of AI technologies, particularly in sectors like agriculture where the potential for social empowerment and sustainable development is significant. The Guidelines indicate a commitment to responsible innovation that seeks to ensure the benefits of AI are widely distributed and contribute to the empowerment of all members of society, including those in rural and underserved areas of South Africa.

The Limpopo Living Labs' initiative in their 2021 report titled "Innovating Agriculture in Limpopo through Participatory Design" represents a novel approach to agricultural innovation centred on community involvement and participatory design principles. By directly involving local farmers in the creation and refinement of agricultural technologies, the initiative ensures that the solutions developed are both contextually relevant and highly adapted to the unique agricultural landscape of the Limpopo region. This participatory approach not only enhances the effectiveness of technological innovations but also promotes a sense of empowerment and ownership among local farmers. This can result in higher adoption rates and more sustainable agricultural outcomes. The success of the Limpopo Living Labs reinforces the potential of participatory design in bridging the gap between technology developers and end-users. It offers valuable lessons on the importance of community engagement in driving technological advancement and sustainability in agriculture.⁴⁰ The Limpopo Living Labs report signifies the importance of participatory design in agricultural innovation, and emphasises the benefits of community engagement and local involvement in developing technological solutions. This example from the Limpopo region of South Africa serves as a practical case study of how participatory approaches can lead to more effective and sustainable agricultural practices.

³⁹ Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR). (2021). *Responsible AI for Social Empowerment (RAISE) Guidelines*. CSIR.

⁴⁰ Limpopo Living Labs. (2021). *Innovating Agriculture in Limpopo through Participatory Design*. Limpopo Living Labs.

Analysis of South Africa's Agricultural Sector: Progress,

Weaknesses, Gaps, Opportunities, and Recommendations

Progress and Strengths:

- 1. Technological integration and innovation: South Africa has demonstrated considerable progress in integrating AI and digital technologies within its agricultural sector. Initiatives like the Precision Agriculture for Development in South Africa (PADSA) and the South African National Space Agency's Earth Observation program represent significant advancements in leveraging technology to improve agricultural productivity and resilience.
- 2. **Policy and strategic frameworks:** The Department of Science and Innovation's Decadal Plan and the Comprehensive Rural Development Programme (CRDP) highlight South Africa's commitment to enhancing digital infrastructure and literacy, and to fostering innovation across the agricultural sector. These strategic plans are crucial for modernising agriculture and ensuring sustainable development.
- 3. Ethical and inclusive approaches: The establishment of the Responsible AI for Social Empowerment (RAISE) guidelines and the Limpopo Living Labs initiative demonstrates South Africa's dedication to ethical technology deployment and inclusivity, ensuring that innovations are both culturally sensitive and socially beneficial.

Weaknesses and Gaps:

- Digital divide: Despite advancements, a significant digital divide persists, particularly to the disadvantage of rural areas. This gap in digital access and literacy limits the reach and effectiveness of technological solutions for many smallholder farmers, hampering productivity and sustainable practices.
- 2. Climate vulnerability: South Africa's agriculture remains highly susceptible to climate-induced stresses, including erratic precipitation and temperature fluctuations. The existing adaptation measures, although noteworthy, are not sufficient to fully mitigate the impacts of climate change on food security and agricultural productivity.
- 3. **Implementation and scaling challenges:** While there are various innovative projects and policies in place, the translation of these initiatives into widespread, tangible benefits for the agricultural sector faces obstacles. These include limitations in funding, infrastructure, and human capital for effective implementation and scaling.

Opportunities:

1. **Expanding digital literacy and infrastructure:** There is a significant opportunity to bridge the digital divide through targeted investments in digital literacy programs and infrastructure

development, especially in rural areas. This could enhance the adoption of technology and increase productivity among smallholder farmers.

- Climate-smart agriculture: Further development and implementation of climate-smart agricultural practices offer a pathway to mitigate the impacts of climate variability. This includes the adoption of resilient crop varieties, improved water management techniques, and sustainable land management practices.
- 3. Collaborative and participatory approaches: Emphasising participatory design and collaborative efforts involving local communities, tech developers, and the government can accelerate innovation and ensure that solutions are tailored to the unique challenges and needs of South African agriculture.

Recommendations:

- Enhance connectivity and access to technology: Implement policies and programs aimed at expanding digital literacy and improving connectivity, particularly in underserved rural areas, to ensure equitable access to technological innovations.
- Invest in climate adaptation and resilience: Allocate increased funding and resources towards research and development of climate-resilient crops and farming practices. This should also include support for farmers to adopt these practices.
- 3. Strengthen public-private partnerships: Foster stronger collaborations between government agencies, private sector entities, research institutions, and NGOs to drive innovation, scale successful projects, and ensure sustainability of technological solutions.
- 4. **Promote inclusivity and ethical practices:** Ensure that the deployment of AI and digital technologies adheres to ethical guidelines, prioritising data privacy, security, and inclusivity to benefit all stakeholders, particularly marginalised and smallholder farmers.

Analysis and Conclusion

South Africa's agricultural sector has made notable progress in integrating technology and innovative practices to enhance productivity and resilience. However, challenges related to climate change, digital access, and the scaling of innovations remain. By addressing these challenges through targeted policies, investments, and collaborative efforts, South Africa can further strengthen its agricultural sector. Ensuring inclusivity, sustainability, and resilience against climate variability will be key to achieving long-term food security and economic stability. The integration of AI, digital technologies, and climate-smart practices has laid a foundation on which further advancements can be built. However, the path forward requires a

concerted effort to bridge existing gaps and harness emerging opportunities, ensuring that progress benefits all stakeholders within the agricultural ecosystem. The digital divide, vulnerability to climate change, and challenges related to the implementation and scaling of technological innovations underline the complexities of this undertaking. Addressing these challenges necessitates a holistic approach, blending technological innovation with policy support, infrastructural development, and capacity building. It demands synergy between the government, private sector, civil society, and the farming communities themselves, fostering an environment where sustainable and inclusive growth can flourish.

Investing in digital literacy and infrastructure is paramount for South Africa, not just as a means to facilitate the adoption of technology, but as a cornerstone for equitable economic development and empowerment. Similarly, a proactive stance towards climate adaptation and resilience will safeguard the sector against the ever-present threat of climate variability. This includes not only the adoption of resilient agricultural practices but also a broader commitment to sustainable land and water management strategies. Promotion of collaborative and participatory approaches to innovation will ensure that solutions are not only technically sound but are also grounded in the realities of the farmers they aim to serve. This approach enhances the likelihood for successful adoption and maximises the impact of technological advancements. Ensuring that these innovations are deployed ethically, with a focus on inclusivity and social empowerment, further aligns technological progress with the broader goals of societal well-being and justice.

This case study consequently shows how South Africa's agricultural sector is at a crossroads, but with significant potential to advance in the face of challenges. By leveraging its achievements as stepping stones, the sector can navigate the complexities of modern agriculture, turning vulnerabilities into strengths and challenges into opportunities. This journey, while fraught with obstacles, also offers the promise of a more resilient, productive, and equitable agricultural future, where technology and tradition converge to create sustainable pathways for growth and development, ensuring food security and prosperity for all South Africans. Nonetheless, the path forward for South Africa will require a concerted effort from government bodies, the private sector, international organisations, and local communities. Together, these stakeholders can harness the power of AI and digital technologies to transform agriculture, making it more resilient, productive, and sustainable in the face of climate variability. As South Africa navigates this path, it will offer valuable lessons and insights for other African countries

contending with similar challenges, highlighting the importance of a holistic approach that marries technological innovation with social and environmental considerations

Case Study II: Kenya

Kenya is a country with very diverse climate landscapes that range from the snow-capped peaks of Mt. Kenya to the arid landscapes of the north. It therefore presents a unique case study in the context of climate change, agricultural productivity, and the integration of AI and digital technologies. Like South Africa, Kenya faces significant challenges in its agricultural sector, which is a vital part of its economy and a critical source of livelihood for a large proportion of its population. This case study will dive into Kenya's vulnerabilities to climate change, explore the potential of technological innovations to address these challenges, and examine the necessary policy frameworks and ethical considerations.

Climate Vulnerabilities in Kenyan Agriculture

Kenya's agriculture is highly dependent on rainfall, making it susceptible to climate variability and change. The country has experienced more frequent and severe droughts and unpredictable rainfall patterns, adversely affecting crop yields and food security. A study by the Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research Organisation (KALRO) highlighted that temperature rises and changes in precipitation patterns are expected to reduce major crop yields by up to 25%. The FAO has also noted that these climatic changes threaten to exacerbate food insecurity in Kenya, particularly among rural communities.

The Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research Institute (KALRO) 2017 report titled "Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture in Kenya," is a comprehensive analysis of the significant challenges climate change poses to the agricultural sector in Kenya. The report details how altered precipitation patterns, rising temperatures, and the increased incidences of pests and diseases are detrimentally affecting crop yields, water availability, and overall food security in the country. To respond to these challenges, KALRO proposed a suite of adaptation strategies aimed at strengthening the sector's resilience. These include the development and adoption of drought-tolerant crop varieties, the enhancement of water conservation methods, and the promotion of sustainable agricultural practices among Kenyan farmers. By highlighting these adaptive measures, the report placed emphasis on the critical need for targeted interventions and policy support to safeguard agricultural productivity and food security against the backdrop of a changing climate.⁴¹ KALRO's insights and recommendations provide a good background to the specific impacts of climate change on agriculture in Kenya and the importance of adaptation strategies in ensuring the sustainability and resilience of the agricultural sector.

The Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO) in a 2018 report addressing the impact of climate crises and disasters on agriculture provided a stark overview of the vulnerability of the agricultural sector to a wide array of disasters and crises on a global scale. Notably, the report highlighted how such events have led to significant economic losses, severely affecting food security and exacerbating poverty levels, particularly in regions heavily reliant on agriculture, like Kenya. In Kenya, the FAO report detailed the recurrent challenges posed by droughts, floods, and pest invasions, and the devastating impacts on crop yields, livestock health, and farmers' livelihoods. These events not only diminish food availability but also erode the coping mechanisms of communities, rendering them increasingly vulnerable to future shocks. The FAO emphasised the need for integrated disaster risk reduction and climate change adaptation strategies to reinforce the resilience of Kenya's agricultural sector, advocating for investments in sustainable agricultural practices, improved water management, and enhanced early warning systems.⁴² These insights from the FAO's report underline the critical challenges faced by Kenya's agricultural sector due to disasters and crises, whilst also underscoring the importance of resilience-building and adaptive strategies to safeguard food security and agricultural livelihoods. They provide a comprehensive understanding of the scope and scale of disaster impacts on agriculture, framing Kenya's experiences within the broader global context of agricultural vulnerability and resilience efforts.

Technological Innovation for Agricultural Resilience

Kenya has been at the forefront of adopting digital solutions to enhance agricultural productivity and resilience. Mobile technology, in particular, has been widely used to provide farmers with access to weather forecasts, market prices, and agricultural advice. One notable initiative is the Digital Farmer Platform by Safaricom, which offers a suite of services including access to marketplaces, financial services, and tailored agricultural content.

⁴¹ Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research Institute (KALRO). (2017). *Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture in Kenya*. KALRO.

⁴² Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). (2018). *The Impact of Disasters and Crises on Agriculture and Food Security: 2018*. FAO.

The use of AI and satellite technology for precision agriculture is also gaining traction. Projects such as the Regional Centre for Mapping of Resources for Development (RCMRD)'s SERVIR program utilise satellite data to provide actionable information on crop health, soil moisture levels, and pest infestations. These technologies enable farmers to make informed decisions, optimise resource use, and enhance crop yields.

An initiative by the communications and technology company Safaricom – "Digital Farmer Platform: Connecting Farmers to Markets, Services, and Information", demonstrated the transformative potential of digital technology in the agricultural sector of Kenya. By providing a centralised digital platform, Safaricom facilitated unprecedented access to real-time market data, weather forecasts, and expert agricultural advice for farmers across the country. This innovation not only enabled farmers to optimise their crop yields and reduce losses but has also significantly improved their ability to access markets and achieve fair pricing for their produce. The Digital Farmer Platform continues to serve as a critical tool in bridging the information gap that has historically marginalised smallholder farmers, thereby enhancing their competitiveness and contributing to a more sustainable and prosperous agricultural ecosystem in Kenya.⁴³ The insights and knowledge gained from Safaricom's report shows the crucial role of mobile and digital technologies in advancing agricultural development in Kenya. It provides a concrete example of how technology can be leveraged to connect farmers with valuable information and sustainability in the agricultural sector.

The "SERVIR: Satellite Solutions for Kenyan Farmers" report by the Regional Centre for Mapping of Resources for Development showcased the innovative use of satellite imagery and geospatial technologies in enhancing agricultural practices in Kenya. SERVIR is a collaborative effort between NASA and USAID, Kenyan farmers. The initiative's design helps Kenyan farmers gain access to vital environmental data that informs their agricultural decisions. This access to precise information on soil moisture, crop health, and weather conditions has been instrumental in optimising farming operations, reducing the risks associated with unpredictable weather patterns, and improving crop yields. The report highlighted several success stories where satellite data directly contributed to increased agricultural productivity and resilience among Kenyan farming communities, underscoring the transformative potential of satellite

⁴³ Safaricom. (2019). *Digital Farmer Platform: Connecting Farmers to Markets, Services, and Information*. Safaricom.

technology in addressing the challenges faced by the agricultural sector.⁴⁴ The RCMRD's SERVIR report shows the importance of satellite and geospatial technologies in modernising agriculture in Kenya. It provides a tangible example of how advanced data analytics can empower farmers with actionable insights, leading to improved agricultural outcomes and greater resilience to environmental challenges.

Policy Frameworks and Capacity Building

Kenya's government has recognised the importance of technology in agriculture, as evidenced by its Agriculture Sector Transformation and Growth Strategy. This strategy aims to modernise the sector through technology and innovation, including the adoption of AI and digital tools. However, challenges such as digital literacy, access to affordable technology, and infrastructure development need to be addressed in order to realise this vision fully. Capacity-building initiatives are crucial for equipping farmers with the skills to use new technologies effectively. Programs like the Kenya Climate Smart Agriculture Project (KCSAP) focus on training farmers in climate-smart practices and the use of digital tools to improve resilience and productivity.

The "Agriculture Sector Transformation and Growth Strategy" was published by Kenya's Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock, Fisheries and Irrigation. The Strategy set out a comprehensive framework for revolutionising the country's agricultural sector over the next decade. This Strategy was intended at ensuring inclusive growth. It focused on leveraging technological innovation, enhancing smallholder farmers' access to markets, and promoting sustainable agricultural practices. By targeting key areas such as productivity improvement, climate resilience, and value addition, the ASTGS intended to double farmer incomes, achieve food and nutrition security, and contribute to the overall economic growth of Kenya. This visionary strategy underscores the Kenyan government's commitment to transforming agriculture into a modern, commercially viable sector capable of lifting millions out of poverty and ensuring long-term sustainability.⁴⁵ ASTGS as Kenya's strategic approach to agricultural development, emphasises the role of policy and innovation in driving sector growth and transformation. It not only provides a case study of agricultural policy planning but also

⁴⁴ Regional Centre for Mapping of Resources for Development (RCMRD). (2020). *SERVIR: Satellite Solutions for Kenyan Farmers*. RCMRD.

⁴⁵ Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock, Fisheries and Irrigation. (2019). *Agriculture Sector Transformation and Growth Strategy (ASTGS 2019-2029)*. Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock, Fisheries and Irrigation, Government of Kenya.

underscores the importance of comprehensive strategies in addressing the complex challenges faced by the agricultural sector in developing countries.

The World Bank's "*Kenya Climate Smart Agriculture Project (KCSAP)*" was a significant step forward in integrating climate-smart practices into Kenya's agricultural sector. With a focus on increasing productivity, building resilience, and reducing greenhouse gas emissions, KCSAP addressed the critical challenges of climate change and food security faced by smallholder farmers in Kenya. It demonstrated notable successes in promoting sustainable farming techniques that not only conserve environmental resources but also enhance crop yields and farmers' incomes. By facilitating access to knowledge, technology, and markets, KCSAP empowered farming communities across Kenya to adopt more resilient agricultural practices, ensuring a sustainable future for the sector. This initiative exemplifies the potential of targeted investments and partnerships to transform agriculture into a climate-smart engine of growth and sustainability.⁴⁶ KCSAP therefore underlines the importance of climate-smart agriculture initiatives in addressing the dual challenges of climate change and food security in Kenya. It highlights how such projects can lead to tangible benefits for smallholder farmers, contributing to the overall resilience and sustainability of the agricultural sector in the face of environmental challenges.

Ethical Considerations and Inclusivity

As Kenya advances in deploying AI and digital technologies in agriculture, ensuring these innovations are ethical and inclusive is paramount. This includes considerations around data privacy, equitable access to technology, and ensuring technologies are developed and deployed in a way that considers the needs and contexts of all farmers, including smallholders and marginalised groups. Initiatives such as the AI for Development (AI4D) Africa program emphasise the ethical use of AI, advocating for solutions that are inclusive and equitable. Engaging local communities in the design of technological solutions ensures that these innovations are tailored to the specific challenges and needs of Kenyan farmers.

The report on *"Promoting Ethical AI in African Agriculture"* by AI for Development (AI4D) Africa placed emphasis on the transformative potential of artificial intelligence in enhancing agricultural productivity and sustainability across the continent, with a notable focus on Kenya.

⁴⁶ World Bank. (2021). *Kenya Climate Smart Agriculture Project (KCSAP)*. World Bank.

Whilst supporting AI adoption, it advocated for the integration of ethical principles in the development and application of AI technologies, aiming to ensure that these innovations benefit all stakeholders equitably, particularly smallholder farmers. In Kenya, where agriculture plays a critical role in the economy and societal well-being, the ethical deployment of AI offers promising avenues for addressing perennial challenges such as pest infestations, unpredictable weather patterns, and access to markets. By prioritising transparency, fairness, and inclusivity, ethical AI practices can lead to more sustainable agricultural outcomes, ultimately contributing to greater food security and economic resilience.⁴⁷ AI4D Africa highlighted the crucial role of ethical considerations in harnessing AI for agricultural development in Kenya and across Africa, emphasising the need for technologies that not only advance agricultural productivity and sustainability but also do so in a way that is ethical, equitable and inclusive, ensuring that the benefits of AI reach all segments of the agricultural community.

Analysis of Kenya's Agricultural Sector: Progress, Weaknesses, Gaps, Opportunities, and Recommendations

Progress and Strengths:

- 1. Technological adoption and innovation: Kenya has shown remarkable progress in embracing digital and AI technologies to enhance agricultural productivity and resilience. Initiatives like Safaricom's Digital Farmer Platform and the SERVIR program by RCMRD demonstrate effective use of mobile technology and satellite data to support farmers with actionable insights for decision-making.
- Strategic policy frameworks: The Agriculture Sector Transformation and Growth Strategy and the Kenya Climate Smart Agriculture Project (KCSAP) indicate the government's commitment to modernising agriculture through technology, innovation, and climate-smart practices, aiming for sustainable growth and increased farmer incomes.
- 3. Focus on climate resilience: Kenya's efforts to integrate climate-smart agriculture practices, as evidenced by projects like KCSAP, show a proactive approach to mitigating the impacts of climate change on agriculture, emphasising sustainability and environmental conservation.

Weaknesses and Gaps:

1. Digital divide and access issues: Despite technological advancements, a digital divide persists, with rural and marginalised communities facing challenges in accessing and

⁴⁷ AI for Development (AI4D) Africa. (2020). *Promoting Ethical AI in African Agriculture*. AI4D Africa.

utilising digital technologies. This gap limits the potential benefits of digital agricultural solutions.

- 2. **Vulnerability to climate change:** Kenya's agriculture remains highly vulnerable to climate variability, including droughts and unpredictable rainfall, which poses a significant risk to food security and agricultural productivity.
- 3. **Implementation challenges:** While Kenya has established robust policies and strategies for agricultural transformation, implementation challenges remain, including issues related to funding, infrastructure, and capacity building for farmers to adopt new technologies and practices effectively.

Opportunities:

- *1.* Enhancing digital literacy and infrastructure: There's a substantial opportunity to bridge the digital divide by investing in digital literacy programs and infrastructure, especially in rural areas, to ensure equitable access to digital agricultural solutions.
- 2. Scaling climate-smart practices: Expanding the adoption of climate-smart agricultural practices can further enhance resilience to climate change, improve productivity, and ensure sustainable use of resources.
- 3. Inclusive technology development: Engaging local communities in the design and deployment of technological solutions can ensure that innovations are tailored to the specific needs and contexts of Kenyan farmers, promoting inclusivity and adoption.

Recommendations:

- Strengthen infrastructure and digital literacy: Accelerate efforts to improve digital infrastructure and literacy among the farming community to ensure widespread access to and effective use of digital agricultural technologies.
- Expand climate-smart agriculture: Intensify investment in research, development, and dissemination of climate-smart agriculture technologies and practices to bolster resilience and productivity in the face of climate change.
- 3. Foster public-private partnerships: Encourage collaborations between the government, private sector, academia, and civil society to drive innovation, scale up successful initiatives, and mobilise resources for sustainable agricultural development.
- 4. Ensure ethical and inclusive technology use: Prioritise the ethical use of AI and digital technologies in agriculture, focusing on transparency, fairness, and inclusivity, to ensure that technological benefits reach all segments of the farming community, including smallholders and marginalised groups.

Analysis and Conclusion

Kenya's agricultural sector is pivotal to its economy and food security. However, like South Africa, it is at a crossroads, facing significant challenges posed by climate change but also benefiting from opportunities presented by technological innovation. The country has made notable strides in adopting digital and AI technologies to improve agricultural productivity and resilience. However, to fully realise the potential of these advancements, concerted efforts are needed to bridge the digital divide, enhance climate resilience, and ensure the ethical and inclusive deployment of technology. Whilst Kenya is navigating the challenges and opportunities of the 21st century, its agricultural sector stands at the forefront of potential transformation, embodying both the vulnerabilities inherent in climate change and the promise offered by technological innovation. Thus far the country shows that it has placed emphasis on building the resilience of Kenyan farmers, policymakers, and innovators. However, the road ahead demands a more integrated, inclusive, and forward-looking strategy to harness the full potential of agricultural advancements while safeguarding against the environmental and socio-economic risks posed by climate change.

The progress made in integrating digital solutions and climate-smart practices in agriculture marks a significant leap towards achieving sustainable agricultural development in Kenya. Yet, this progress spotlights the persistent challenges that could hinder the realisation of this vision. The digital divide, climate vulnerability, and implementation hurdles remain significant barriers. Addressing these challenges necessitates not just incremental changes but a holistic transformation of the agricultural landscape, involving concerted efforts from all stakeholders involved. Opportunities for growth and improvement are abundant. Enhancing digital literacy and infrastructure, especially in rural and underserved areas, can democratise access to innovative agricultural technologies, bridging the gap between smallholder farmers and large-scale agribusinesses. Similarly, expanding the adoption of climate-smart agricultural practices offers a pathway to not only mitigate the impacts of climate variability but also to improve yields, enhance soil health, and reduce carbon footprints, contributing to global efforts against climate change. Furthermore, fostering inclusive technology development and ensuring the ethical deployment of AI in agriculture are essential to ensuring that these innovations benefit all Kenyans. These approaches emphasise not only the technological and economic aspects of agricultural innovation but also its social dimensions, ensuring that progress does not come at the expense of equity and inclusivity. To actualise these opportunities, Kenya needs a multi-pronged approach that encompasses strengthening policy frameworks, investing in research and development, enhancing public-private partnerships, and prioritising community engagement and capacity building. Such an approach would not only address the immediate challenges facing Kenyan agriculture but also lay the foundation for a sustainable, resilient, and productive agricultural sector.

Accordingly, Kenya's agricultural sector is at a point where the actions taken today will determine its future trajectory. By leveraging its strengths, addressing its weaknesses, and seizing the opportunities for growth, Kenya can achieve an agricultural transformation that ensures food security, economic prosperity, and environmental sustainability. This transformation requires a collective effort, uniting government, industry, academia, and communities in a shared vision for a sustainable agricultural future. In doing so, Kenya can emerge as a leader in sustainable agriculture, setting a benchmark for other nations grappling with similar challenges.

Case Study III: Ghana

Like South Africa and Kenya, Ghana's agricultural sector plays a pivotal role in its economy, contributing significantly to GDP, employment, and food security. However, just like South Africa, Kenya and many African countries, Ghana faces substantial challenges due to climate change, threatening agricultural productivity and sustainability. This case study examines Ghana's vulnerability to climate variability, explores the adoption of artificial intelligence AI and digital technologies in agriculture, and assesses the policy frameworks and ethical considerations necessary to navigate these challenges.

Climate Vulnerabilities in Ghanaian Agriculture

Ghana experiences diverse climatic conditions, from the coastal savannahs to the northern arid regions, making its agriculture susceptible to varied climate change impacts. Studies indicate that Ghana faces increased risks from changing rainfall patterns, rising temperatures, and extreme weather events, which adversely affect crop yields and food security. The Environmental Protection Agency of Ghana (EPA) and the Ghana Meteorological Agency (GMA) have documented significant changes in rainfall and temperature patterns over the past decades, predicting detrimental effects on agriculture. The collaborative report by the

Environmental Protection Agency of Ghana and the Ghana Meteorological Agency, "Climate Change and Variability Impacts on Ghana's Agriculture", provided a comprehensive examination of how climate dynamics are reshaping agricultural practices and productivity in Ghana. Through detailed analysis, the report revealed that shifts in rainfall patterns, rising temperatures, and an increase in the occurrence of extreme weather conditions pose significant challenges to the agricultural sector, threatening food security and the livelihoods of rural farming communities. In response to these challenges, the report emphasised the urgent need for adaptive measures, including the implementation of climate-smart agriculture, enhanced irrigation and water management practices, and the introduction of crop varieties resilient to climate stressors. These strategies are critical for safeguarding agricultural productivity and ensuring the sustainability of farming practices in the face of increasing climate variability.⁴⁸ The EPA and GMA report addressed and highlighted the specific challenges posed by climate change to agriculture in Ghana, and underscored the importance of adopting adaptive and resilience-enhancing strategies. The report provides a focused case study on the impacts of climate variability on agricultural systems in a Ghana specific context, offering valuable insights into the necessary responses to ensure food security and agricultural sustainability.

Technological Innovation for Agricultural Resilience

In response to these challenges, Ghana has been exploring the use of AI and digital technologies to improve agricultural resilience and productivity. Mobile technology has been instrumental in providing farmers with access to weather forecasts, market prices, and agricultural advice. The Esoko platform, for example, offers a mobile service that delivers market information and agronomic tips to farmers, aiming to improve yields and incomes. Satellite imagery and AI are also being harnessed to enhance precision agriculture practices in Ghana. Projects such as the GhanaSat-1 initiative aim to use satellite data for monitoring crop health, predicting yields, and optimising agricultural inputs. These technologies enable more efficient resource use, critical in regions facing water scarcity and changing climatic conditions. Esoko's *"Empowering Farmers through Mobile Technology"* report illustrated the transformative impact of digital solutions on agriculture in Ghana. By providing farmers with access to critical agricultural information and services via mobile technology, Esoko has significantly contributed to enhancing agricultural decision-making and productivity. The platform's services, including weather updates, market price information, and agronomic tips, have empowered farmers with the knowledge needed to

⁴⁸ Environmental Protection Agency of Ghana & Ghana Meteorological Agency. (2020). *Climate Change and Variability Impacts on Ghana's Agriculture*. Environmental Protection Agency of Ghana & Ghana Meteorological Agency.

optimise their practices and improve crop yields. Furthermore, the report highlights how mobile technology has facilitated better market access, enabling farmers to sell their produce at favourable prices. The success stories documented by Esoko underscore the potential of mobile technology to uplift the agricultural sector in Ghana, driving economic growth and improving livelihoods for farming communities.⁴⁹ Esoko's importance lies in its emphasis on mobile technology in modernising agriculture, particularly in Ghana. It highlights how digital platforms can bridge information gaps, providing farmers with the tools needed to navigate challenges and capitalise on opportunities, thereby contributing to the sustainable development of the agricultural sector.

Through the deployment of Ghana's first satellite, GhanaSat-1, the country has now harnessed the power of satellite imagery to enhance agricultural productivity and sustainability. The satellite's capabilities in monitoring crop health, assessing soil moisture, and evaluating environmental conditions have enabled farmers and agricultural policymakers to make data-driven decisions. This precision in agricultural management has led to improved crop yields, efficient water use, and better land use planning. The report highlighted several success stories where satellite data has directly contributed to optimising farming operations, showcasing the immense potential of satellite technology in advancing the agricultural sector in Ghana.⁵⁰ The GhanaSat-1 report is useful for its innovative application of satellite technology in agricultural sector in agriculture, showcasing how Ghana is leveraging space science to address agricultural challenges and improve productivity. This example highlights the importance of technological advancements in achieving sustainable agricultural development and food security.

Policy Frameworks and Capacity Building

Ghana's government has recognised the importance of technology in driving agricultural transformation. The Ministry of Food and Agriculture has a campaign that emphasises the adoption of modern farming techniques and digital technologies as key components of its strategy to increase productivity. However, challenges such as access to affordable technology, digital literacy, and infrastructure development remain significant barriers. Capacity-building initiatives are essential to equip farmers with the knowledge and skills to leverage new technologies. The Ghana Climate-Smart Agriculture and Food Security (GCSAFS) program

⁴⁹ Esoko. (2021). *Empowering Farmers through Mobile Technology*. Esoko.

⁵⁰ Ghana Space Science and Technology Institute. (2021). *GhanaSat-1: Advancing Agriculture through Satellite Imagery*. Ghana Space Science and Technology Institute.

focuses on training farmers in climate-smart practices and the use of digital tools, funded by international organisations such as the World Bank and FAO.

The "*Planting for Food and Jobs: A Catalyst for Agricultural Transformation*" report published by the Ministry of Food and Agriculture in Ghana provides an in-depth analysis of Ghana's ambitious effort to revitalise its agricultural sector. As a comprehensive policy initiative, *Planting for Food and Jobs* seeks to increase agricultural production, enhance food security, and stimulate economic growth through targeted interventions in seed supply, fertiliser distribution, and market access. To date the program has reported significant successes in boosting crop yields, expanding employment in the agricultural sector, and reducing the country's reliance on food imports. These achievements not only underscore the potential of government-led initiatives in transforming agriculture but also highlight the critical role of policy in addressing the challenges of modernising farming practices, ensuring food security, and fostering economic development in Ghana.⁵¹ This report shows Ghana's proactive approach to agricultural development and transformation. It illustrates the government's commitment to enhancing productivity, food security, and employment through strategic investments and policy interventions, showcasing a model that other countries might draw lessons from in pursuing agricultural and economic sustainability.

The "Ghana Climate-Smart Agriculture and Food Security (GCSAFS) Program," was a collaborative initiative by the World Bank and the Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO) in 2021. It provided a critical approach to combating the adverse effects of climate change on agriculture in Ghana. Intended to foster a more productive, resilient, and sustainable agricultural sector, the program underscores the critical need for climate-smart practices and technologies in ensuring long-term food security and environmental sustainability. Through its comprehensive strategies including the enhancement of land and water management techniques, capacity building among agricultural stakeholders, and the strengthening of agricultural value chains, the GCSAFS program can lead to significant advancements in transforming Ghana's agricultural landscape. The initiative's emphasis on inclusivity and sustainability reflects a holistic approach to addressing both the immediate and long-term challenges posed by climate variability, setting a precedent for future climate adaptation and

⁵¹ Ministry of Food and Agriculture. (2019). *Planting for Food and Jobs: A Catalyst for Agricultural Transformation*. Ministry of Food and Agriculture, Government of Ghana.

mitigation efforts in the agricultural sector.⁵² The report underlines the importance of international collaboration and strategic planning in addressing climate change's impact on agriculture. It highlights the innovative approaches being taken in Ghana to enhance agricultural resilience, productivity, and sustainability through the adoption of climate-smart practices, contributing to global efforts to ensure food security and environmental protection.

Ethical Considerations and Inclusivity

As digital technologies become more integrated into Ghana's agricultural sector, ensuring these innovations are ethical and inclusive is paramount. Considerations around data privacy, equitable access to technology, and the development of technologies that consider the diverse needs and contexts of Ghanaian farmers are critical. The Ghanaian government, in collaboration with international partners, has initiated discussions around the ethical use of AI in agriculture, emphasising the need for frameworks that ensure technologies are used responsibly and benefit all farmers, including smallholders and marginalised groups.

In 2020, the Ministry of Communication released Ghana's "Ethical Guidelines for AI Development and Use in Agriculture," setting a precedent for responsible technological innovation in Ghana's agricultural sector. These guidelines underscore the commitment to developing AI technologies that are not only advanced but also ethical, ensuring that such innovations benefit all stakeholders equitably. The Guidelines prioritised principles of fairness, accountability, and transparency thus underlining Ghana's intentions to harness AI's potential to revolutionise agricultural practices, from enhancing crop productivity and resource efficiency to improving market access and resilience against climate variability. The implementation of these ethical guidelines signifies a crucial step towards achieving sustainable agricultural development in Ghana, leveraging AI to tackle pressing challenges while safeguarding the interests and well-being of the farming community. Guidelines underscore the importance of ethical considerations in technology deployment in Ghana, illustrating how responsible AI development can contribute significantly to sustainable agricultural practices and broader socio-economic development goals.

⁵² World Bank & Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). (2021). *Ghana Climate-Smart Agriculture and Food Security (GCSAFS) Program*. World Bank & FAO.

Analysis of Ghana's Agricultural Sector: Progress, Weaknesses, Gaps, Opportunities, and Recommendations

Progress and Strengths:

- Adoption of digital and AI technologies: Ghana has made significant strides in integrating digital technologies and AI into its agricultural sector. Platforms like Esoko and initiatives such as GhanaSat-1 demonstrate the effective use of mobile technology and satellite imagery to provide critical information and services to farmers, enhancing productivity and resilience.
- 2. Policy initiatives: Ghana's government has launched ambitious programs, such as the Planting for Food and Jobs campaign and the Ghana Climate-Smart Agriculture and Food Security (GCSAFS) program, focusing on modernising agriculture, increasing production, and promoting climate-smart practices. These policy initiatives highlight a strong commitment to transforming agriculture and addressing food security.
- 3. Emphasis on climate-smart agriculture: The focus on climate-smart agriculture practices, as evidenced by the GCSAFS program, demonstrates Ghana's proactive approach to mitigating the impacts of climate change on agriculture, aiming for a more sustainable and resilient agricultural sector.

Weaknesses and Gaps:

- Vulnerability to climate change: Despite advancements, Ghana's agriculture remains highly susceptible to climate change, with changing rainfall patterns and rising temperatures posing significant risks to crop yields and food security.
- 2. Challenges in technology access and adoption: Access to affordable technology and digital literacy are significant barriers, particularly in rural areas. These challenges hinder the widespread adoption of digital solutions and innovative farming practices.
- 3. Infrastructure and capacity building needs: Infrastructure development, especially in rural areas, and capacity building for farmers to leverage new technologies effectively remain areas requiring more focused attention and investment.

Opportunities:

1. **Expansion of digital literacy and infrastructure:** There is a considerable opportunity to enhance digital literacy and infrastructure, making technology more accessible to farmers across Ghana. This would facilitate broader adoption of digital agricultural solutions.

- Scaling up climate-resilient practices: Further development and widespread adoption of climate-resilient crop varieties and farming practices offer significant potential to enhance agricultural sustainability and productivity in the face of climate variability.
- 3. **Innovative financing models:** Developing innovative financing and insurance products tailored to the needs of smallholder farmers can improve access to capital, reduce risks associated with climate change, and encourage investment in new technologies and practices.

Recommendations:

- Strengthening of digital infrastructure and literacy: Strengthen efforts to improve digital infrastructure and literacy among the farming community to ensure equitable access to and effective use of agricultural technologies.
- Enhance support for climate-smart agriculture: Intensify support for research, development, and extension services focused on climate-smart agriculture to enable farmers to adapt to and mitigate the effects of climate change.
- 3. Foster public-private partnerships: Encourage collaborations between the government, private sector, civil society, and international organisations to drive innovation, support the scaling of successful initiatives, and mobilise resources for agricultural development.
- 4. **Prioritise ethical and inclusive technology use:** Ensure that the deployment of AI and digital technologies in agriculture adheres to ethical guidelines, prioritising transparency, fairness, and inclusivity to ensure benefits reach all segments of the agricultural community.

Conclusion

Ghana's agricultural sector is at a crucial juncture, with the potential for significant transformation through the integration of digital technologies, AI, and climate-smart practices. However, this transformation requires addressing existing vulnerabilities to climate change, barriers to technology access and adoption, and the need for improved infrastructure and capacity building. By leveraging its strengths and addressing these challenges, Ghana can enhance the resilience, productivity, and sustainability of its agricultural sector, contributing to national food security and economic development. Ghana's ambitions towards agricultural transformation will necessitate a collective effort from government, industry, academia, and communities, underpinned by a commitment to inclusivity, sustainability, and innovation. In doing so, Ghana can serve as a model for sustainable agriculture, not only for itself but for the

broader African continent, demonstrating the power of technology and policy in driving forward a more resilient and prosperous agricultural future.

For Ghana, transforming its agricultural sector into a more resilient, productive and sustainable system presents both formidable challenges and unparalleled opportunities. The sector's key role in Ghana's economy, coupled with its current vulnerabilities to climate change, underscores the urgent need for a holistic and forward-thinking approach. The integration of digital technologies and artificial intelligence, alongside a commitment to climate-smart agricultural practices, indicate Ghana's potential to revolutionise its agricultural landscape. Yet, this path is not without its obstacles, including the persistent digital divide, the threat of climate variability, and the need for enhanced infrastructural and educational support for the farming community. The opportunities for growth and transformation within Ghana's agricultural sector are vast. Enhancing digital literacy and infrastructure across rural areas can unlock the full potential of digital agricultural solutions, ensuring that technology's benefits are accessible to all farmers, regardless of their location or scale of operation. Furthermore, the expansion of climate-resilient farming practices offers a blueprint for not only navigating the challenges posed by climate change but also for setting new standards in agricultural productivity and environmental sustainability. Innovative financing models tailored to the needs and realities of smallholder farmers can catalyse the adoption of new technologies and practices, mitigating the risks associated with climate change and market fluctuations.

These financial mechanisms, coupled with supportive policy frameworks and strategic public-private partnerships, can mobilise the necessary resources and foster the innovation needed for agricultural transformation. As Ghana moves forward, it must also ensure that the deployment of AI and digital technologies in agriculture adheres to ethical principles, emphasising transparency, fairness, and inclusivity. This approach will guarantee that technological advancements benefit all segments of the agricultural community, fostering a more equitable and prosperous sector.

Ghana's transformation of its agricultural sector into a model of resilience, productivity, and sustainability is therefore within reach. Nonetheless, achieving this vision requires a concerted effort from all stakeholders, including the government, private sector, civil society, and the farming community, united by a shared commitment to innovation, sustainability, and inclusivity. By addressing current challenges and harnessing available opportunities, Ghana can

not only secure its food security and economic development but also contribute to the advancements in sustainable agricultural practices. This undertaking, whilst complex, offers hopes for Ghana and a blueprint for other nations navigating similar paths, demonstrating the transformative power of technology, policy, and collective will in shaping the future of agriculture.

Synthesis and Analysis of the Cases of South Africa, Kenya and

Ghana

A comparative analysis of the agricultural sectors in South Africa, Kenya, and Ghana reveals intricate dynamics shaped by climate vulnerabilities, technological interventions, policy initiatives, and ethical considerations. This analysis aims to juxtapose these elements across the three countries, offering insights into their respective strategies and outcomes in addressing agricultural challenges.

Climate Vulnerabilities: Comparative Insights

South Africa, Kenya, and Ghana share the common challenge of climate-induced vulnerabilities, albeit with varying impacts and adaptive capacities. South Africa's diverse climate exacerbates its exposure to climate-induced stresses, notably affecting staple crops like maize and wheat through temperature increases and precipitation variability (Archer et al., 2018; IPCC, 2019). This scenario underscores a broader risk to food security, a concern echoed across the three countries. Kenya faces acute vulnerabilities due to its high dependence on rainfall for agriculture, with frequent droughts and unpredictable rainfall patterns significantly threatening crop yields and food security (KALRO, 2017; FAO, 2018). Compared to South Africa, Kenya's challenges are compounded by a more direct dependence on predictable weather patterns for agriculture, making it susceptible to immediate disruptions caused by climate variability. Ghana, with its climatic diversity, confronts similar threats from changing rainfall patterns and rising temperatures. The adverse effects on crop yields and food security highlight an urgent need for adaptive measures akin to those required in South Africa and Kenya (EPA & GMA, 2020). However, Ghana's varied climatic zones present unique challenges and opportunities for adaptation that differ from the more homogenous climate zones of Kenya and the diverse but more segmented agricultural zones of South Africa.

Technological Innovations for Agricultural Resilience

The adoption of AI and digital technologies in South Africa illustrates a strategic approach to overcoming water scarcity and enhancing crop resilience through predictive analytics and mobile platforms (PADSA, 2021; SANSA, 2020). This innovative use of technology for precision agriculture contrasts with Kenya's focus on mobile technology and satellite data to provide actionable insights for farmers (Safaricom, 2019; RCMRD, 2020), highlighting a broader engagement with digital solutions to bridge information gaps and improve market access. Ghana's use of platforms like Esoko and initiatives such as GhanaSat-1 mirrors Kenya's emphasis on mobile technology and satellite imagery (Esoko, 2021; Ghana Space Science and Technology Institute, 2021). However, Ghana's approach to leveraging satellite data for crop monitoring and optimisation presents an integration of technology at various levels of the agricultural process, from planning to market access, aligning with South Africa's advanced technological applications for precision agriculture.

Policy Frameworks and Capacity Building

South Africa's Decadal Plan (2021-2031) and Comprehensive Rural Development Programme (CRDP) are demonstrative of a comprehensive strategy integrating climate adaptation, digital literacy, and infrastructure development (Department of Science and Innovation, 2021; Department of Rural Development and Land Reform, 2019). This contrasts with Kenya's ASTGS 2019-2029 and KCSAP, which highlight a focused effort on modernising agriculture through technology and climate-smart practices (Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock, Fisheries and Irrigation, 2019; World Bank, 2021). Ghana, through its Planting for Food and Jobs campaign and GCSAFS program, indicates a similar commitment to modernising agriculture and enhancing food security (Ministry of Food and Agriculture, 2019; World Bank & FAO, 2021). The comparison reveals varying degrees of emphasis on technological innovation versus climate adaptation strategies, with Ghana and Kenya showing a more balanced approach, while South Africa leans towards a technology-first strategy.

Ethical Considerations and Inclusivity

Ethical considerations in the deployment of AI and digital technologies emerge as a critical component across all three countries. South Africa's RAISE guidelines set the precedent for ethical AI deployment, emphasising transparency and equity (CSIR, 2021). This initiative mirrors the ethical discussions and guidelines emerging in Kenya and Ghana, where inclusivity

and equitable benefits of technological innovations are prioritised (AI4D Africa, 2020; Ministry of Communication, 2020). The comparison reveals a shared understanding of the need for ethical frameworks to guide technological adoption in agriculture, though the extent and focus of these guidelines vary. South Africa's explicit guidelines contrast with the more nascent discussions in Ghana and Kenya, suggesting different stages in the ethical integration of AI and digital technologies in agriculture.

Analysis

The comparative analysis of the agricultural sectors in South Africa, Kenya, and Ghana thus reveals a multifaceted picture of resilience and adaptation in light of climate change, underpinned by a strategic embrace of technology and emerging complex policy frameworks. Despite their unique geographical, climatic, and socio-economic contexts, these three nations exhibit a shared commitment to strengthening agricultural productivity and sustainability through innovative approaches that cater to both immediate and long-term challenges. The analysis underscores climate vulnerability as a universal concern across South Africa, Kenya, and Ghana, with each country facing distinct impacts that necessitate tailored adaptation strategies. South Africa's diverse climate and Kenya's rainfall-dependent agriculture highlight the complexity of managing climate risks, while Ghana's experiences reflect the broad spectrum of challenges that climate variability presents. This shared vulnerability serves as a rallying point for concerted action, emphasising the need for robust climate-smart agriculture practices that can mitigate the adverse effects of climate change.

In the context of these challenges, technological innovation emerges as a critical lever for enhancing agricultural resilience in all three countries. However, the analysis reveals varying degrees of technological integration and focus. South Africa's advanced use of predictive analytics and satellite data for precision agriculture showcases a high-tech approach to overcoming environmental and resource-related challenges. In contrast, Kenya and Ghana demonstrate significant advancements in utilising mobile technology and satellite imagery to bridge information gaps, improve market access, and optimise agricultural practices. These differences underscore the importance of context-specific technological solutions that are responsive to the unique needs and capacities of each country's agricultural sector. The comparative lens also brings to the forefront the critical role of policy frameworks and capacity building in driving agricultural transformation. South Africa's comprehensive strategy, including its Decadal Plan and CRDP, reflects a holistic approach to integrating technology, climate adaptation, and rural development. Kenya and Ghana's policy initiatives, such as the ASTGS and Planting for Food and Jobs campaign, respectively, highlight a concerted effort towards modernising agriculture through innovation and climate-smart practices. The analysis suggests that robust policy support, coupled with targeted capacity-building initiatives, is essential for realising the full potential of technological and climate adaptation strategies.

Ethical considerations and inclusivity present another critical dimension of this comparative analysis. The establishment of ethical guidelines in South Africa, along with the ongoing discussions and initiatives in Kenya and Ghana, signify a growing recognition of the need to ensure that technological advancements in agriculture are equitable and beneficial for all stakeholders, particularly smallholder farmers and marginalised communities. This emphasis on ethics and inclusivity is crucial for fostering sustainable agricultural practices that are socially responsible and aligned with broader development goals.

The comparative analysis highlights the dynamic interplay between climate vulnerabilities, technological opportunities, policy frameworks, and ethical considerations in shaping the agricultural sectors of South Africa, Kenya, and Ghana. While each country navigates its unique set of challenges, their collective experiences and strategies offer valuable insights and lessons for addressing the complex issues facing agriculture in the era of climate change. By leveraging their strengths, addressing gaps, and fostering collaboration, these countries can pave the way for a more resilient, productive, and sustainable agricultural future, not only for themselves but for the African continent and beyond.

Conclusion

In synthesising the findings from South Africa, Kenya, and Ghana, this comparative analysis illustrates a path forward for the agricultural sectors of these nations amidst the dual threats of climate change and the need for technological advancement. The shared vulnerability to climate impacts underscores an urgent need for tailored adaptive strategies, while the varied technological initiatives reveal a rich tapestry of innovation aimed at bolstering agricultural resilience. The critical role of policy in facilitating or hindering progress cannot be overstated,

as demonstrated by the strategic initiatives and frameworks in place across these countries. Furthermore, the emphasis on ethical considerations and inclusivity in the deployment of technology in agriculture highlights a shared commitment to equitable and sustainable development. Moving forward, the integration of innovative technologies, coupled with robust policy support and adherence to ethical practices, presents a formidable strategy for transforming agriculture into a resilient, productive, and sustainable sector. This comparative analysis not only sheds light on the complexities of agricultural adaptation and innovation in the African context but also offers a blueprint for action that balances technological advancement with socio-economic and environmental sustainability. By addressing the unique and shared challenges with a holistic and integrated approach, South Africa, Kenya, and Ghana can navigate the path towards a more resilient and prosperous agricultural future, setting a precedent for sustainable development in the broader African continent.

Reference Sources

Lobell, D. B., Schlenker, W., & Costa-Roberts, J., (2011). *Climate Trends and Global Crop Production Since 1980.* Science, 333(6042), 616-620. DOI: 10.1126/science.1204531.

Wheeler T., & von Braun, J. (2013). *Climate Change Impacts on Global Food Security*. Science, 9341(6145), 508-513. DOI: 10.1126/science.1239402.

Niang, I., Ruppel, O. C., Abdrabi, M. A., Essel, A., Lennard, C., Padgham, J., Urquhart, P. (2014). *Africa,* in *Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability,* Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

IPCC (2022). Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptations, Vulnerability – Chapter 6: Africa

UNFCCC (2020). Climate Change is an Increasing Threat to Africa

McKinsey & Company (2020). Effects of Climate Change on Agriculture in Africa.

Adaptation of African Agriculture (AAA Initiative), (2020). AAA Initiative

World Bank (2023) Building Climate Resilient Food Systems in Africa

CGIAR (2023) Science Based Solutions Key to Transforming Agriculture in Africa

UNFCCC (2023). AI for Climate Action: Technology Mechanism Supports Transformational Climate Solutions. (https://unfccc.int/news/ai-for-climate-action-technology-mechanism-supports-transformationalclimate-solutions)

Sydney Young, (2020). *The Future of Farming: Artificial Intelligence and Agriculture* (Harvard International Review)

Qin Xin, Ravi Samikannu & Chulian Wei. Artificial Intelligence for Climate Change Risk Prediction, Adaptation & Mitigation

Helle, J., Fisher, E., Taylor, M., et al. Transformative Adaptation: From Climate Smart to Climate Resilient Agriculture. CABI Agricultural Bioscience 4(30) (2023)

Aman Srivastava and Rajib Maity. (2023). *Assessing the Potential of AI-ML in Urban Climate Change Adaptation and Sustainable Development*. Sustainability 15(23)(2023).

OECD (2018). Agriculture and Climate Change Impacts: Impacts, Mitigation and Adaptation. (https://www.oecd.org/greengrowth/sustainable-agriculture/agriculture-and-climate-change.htm)

CGIAR (2022). Climate Smart Agriculture: Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies at the Global Scale.

(https://www.cgiar.org/research/publication/climate-smart-agriculture-mitigation-strategies-glob al-scale/)

Melissa Pardo, (2024). AI and Climate Change: Artificial Intelligence for a Sustainable Future.

Kathy Lewis & Douglas Warner (eds)(2020). Sustainable Agriculture for Climate Change Adaptation. (Special eds).

World Bank (2016. *World Development Report 2016: Digital Dividends*. (The World Bank) (<u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2016</u>)

International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD). (2018). Innovations in Digital
Agriculture: Opportunities for Smallholders. IFAD.https://www.ifad.org/documents/38714170/41187395/Innovations+digital+agriculture.pdf

FAO Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations & International Telecommunication Union. (2019). *E-agriculture in Action: AI for Agriculture*. FAO and ITU. (http://www.fao.org/3/ca4316en/ca4316en.pdf)

McKinsey Global Institute. (2020). *Tackling Africa's Digital Divide*. McKinsey & Company. <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/middle-east-and-africa/tackling-africas-digital-divide</u>

African Union (2020). *Digital Transformation Strategy for Africa (2020 – 2030)*. (https://au.int/en/documents/20200207/digital-transformation-strategy-africa-2020-2030)

African Development Bank Group. (2019). *Digital Agriculture: Africa's Future*. AfDB. <u>https://www.afdb.org/en/documents/digital-agriculture-africas-future</u>

AI4D Africa Initiative. (2020). *Ethical Guidelines for AI in Africa*. AI4D Africa. https://www.ai4d.ai/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/AI4D-Ethical-Guidelines-for-AI-in-Africa.pdf

International Telecommunication Union (ITU). AI for Good Global Summit Reports.

World Economic Forum. (2018). Harnessing Artificial Intelligence for the Earth. World Economic Forum.

https://www.weforum.org/reports/harnessing-artificial-intelligence-for-the-earth

Archer, E. R. M., *et al.* (2018). Climate Change and Agricultural Productivity in South Africa: A Story of Threats and Opportunities. *South African Journal of Science*, 114(5/6), Art. #2017-0303. https://doi.org/10.17159/sajs.2018/20170303

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2019). *Special Report on Climate Change and Land*. IPCC. https://www.ipcc.ch/srccl/

Precision Agriculture for Development in South Africa (PADSA). (2021). *Enhancing Smallholder Productivity through Mobile Technology*. PADSA.

South African National Space Agency (SANSA). (2020). Earth Observation Program for Agricultural Development. SANSA.

Department of Science and Innovation. (2021). *Decadal Plan (2021-2031): Science, Technology, and Innovation*. Department of Science and Innovation, Government of South Africa.

Department of Rural Development and Land Reform. (2019). *Comprehensive Rural Development Programme (CRDP)*. Department of Rural Development and Land Reform, Government of South Africa.

Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR). (2021). Responsible AI for Social Empowerment (RAISE) Guidelines. CSIR.

Limpopo Living Labs. (2021). *Innovating Agriculture in Limpopo through Participatory Design*. Limpopo Living Labs.

Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research Institute (KALRO). (2017). *Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture in Kenya*. KALRO.

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). (2018). *The Impact of Disasters and Crises on Agriculture and Food Security: 2018*. FAO.

Safaricom. (2019). Digital Farmer Platform: Connecting Farmers to Markets, Services, and Information. Safaricom.

Regional Centre for Mapping of Resources for Development (RCMRD). (2020). SERVIR: Satellite Solutions for Kenyan Farmers. RCMRD.

Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock, Fisheries and Irrigation. (2019). *Agriculture Sector Transformation and Growth Strategy (ASTGS 2019-2029)*. Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock, Fisheries and Irrigation, Government of Kenya.

World Bank. (2021). Kenya Climate Smart Agriculture Project (KCSAP). World Bank.

AI for Development (AI4D) Africa. (2020). *Promoting Ethical AI in African Agriculture*. AI4D Africa.

Environmental Protection Agency of Ghana & Ghana Meteorological Agency. (2020). *Climate Change and Variability Impacts on Ghana's Agriculture*. Environmental Protection Agency of Ghana & Ghana Meteorological Agency.

Esoko. (2021). Empowering Farmers through Mobile Technology. Esoko.

Ghana Space Science and Technology Institute. (2021). *GhanaSat-1: Advancing Agriculture through Satellite Imagery*. Ghana Space Science and Technology Institute.

Ministry of Food and Agriculture. (2019). *Planting for Food and Jobs: A Catalyst for Agricultural Transformation*. Ministry of Food and Agriculture, Government of Ghana.

World Bank & Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). (2021). *Ghana Climate-Smart Agriculture and Food Security (GCSAFS) Program*. World Bank & FAO.

https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/industry/blog/sustainability/2024/04/02/world-agri-tech-2024pioneering-agriculture-resilience-with-ai/

https://www.fao.org/agroinformatics/news/news-detail/fao--ai-and-digital-tools-for-climate-resil ient-agri-food-systems--on-the-spotlight-at-the-science-and-innovation-forum-2023/en

https://ischool.illinois.edu/research/projects/ai-institute-artificial-intelligence-future-agricultural -resilience-management,

https://portal.nifa.usda.gov/web/crisprojectpages/1024178-ai-institute-artificial-intelligence-forfuture-agricultural-resilience-management-and-sustainability-aifarms.html#:~:text=

Annex

Towards a Model Framework for Enhancing Agricultural Resilience and Productivity in Africa 😑 UNESCO AI Report | Annex [EDITED] AUGUST 2024 This study was made possible by a grant provided by the International Development Research Center (IDRC). We thank the organisation for their continued support.









© 2024 by Centre for Intellectual Property and Information Technology Law (CIPIT). This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution – NonCommercial – ShareAlike 4.0 International License (CC BY NC SA 4.0). This license allows you to distribute, remix, adapt, and build upon this work for non – commercial purposes, as long as you credit CIPIT and distribute your creations under the same license:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0